BOARD OF SELECTMEN
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 6, 2022
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA —7:00 P.M.
IN-PERSON AND VIRTUAL- TOWN HALL
MOTION

4C. Appointments.
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve all the appointments/reappointments given.

1. A. Maulucci (BHF- Renewal)

2. R.Klein (BHF — Renewal)

3. C. Moquin (Fire — Renewal)

4. T. Johnston (Ethics — Renewal)

5. C. Peter Van Dine (Conservation — Renewal)
6. C. Haugh (Sr. Citizens Comm. — Alternate Renewal)
7. L. Shea (Sr. Citizens Comm. — Renewal)

8. J. Clark (Veterans)

9. G. Carini (Veterans)

10. C. Udin (Sr. Citizens Comm — Renewal)

11. M. “Rivers (Conservation — Alternate)

By: M. Eremita 2"d: R. Morra

Vote:

Yes: M. Eremita, R. Morra, R. DePietro, A. Teller, and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

5C. Consider and Act on A/P Report.
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve the A/P report as presented.

By: R. DePietro 2"d: M. Eremita

Vote:

Yes: R. DePietro, M. Eremita, A. Teller, R. Morra and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

6A. Consider and Possibly Act on Heritage Farm Master Site Plan.
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen accept the Heritage Farm Master Site Plan.

By: R. DePietro 2"d: R. Morra

Vote:

Yes: R. DePietro, R. Morra, M. Eremita, A. Teller and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

7B. Consider and Act on Basketball Supervisor Increase in Pay.
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve the correction in the Basketball Supervisor’s pay to $16.36.



By: R. Morra 24 A Teller

Vote:

Yes: R. Morra, A. Teller, R. DePietro, M. Eremita and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

7C. Consider and Act on Budget for Farm Celebration Event on September 25,

Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve $1,000 budget from the Founder’s Day Fund for the Farm
Celebration Event.

By: R. Morra 2"%: R. DePietro

Vote:

Yes: R. Morra, R. DePietro, M. Eremita, A. Teller and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

Executive Session:

Cybersecurity.
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve the acting Town Administrator be allowed to further vet and
enter into a contract with Novus as our Cybersecurity Vendor.

By: A. Teller 2"%: M. Eremita

Vote:

Yes: A. Teller, M. Eremita, R. Morra, R. DePietro and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

Respectfully Submitted,

Kathy McCavanagh

Please see minutes of subsequent meetings for corrections to these Minutes and any corrections hereto.



BOARD OF SELECTMEN
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 6, 2022
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA —7:00 P.M.
MINUTES

The Board of Selectmen held a meeting on Tuesday, September 6, 2022 with First Selectman Pam Sawyer
presiding. Also, in attendance were selectmen: Robert Morra, Mike Eremita, Robert DePietro, Adam Teller;
Administrative Officer Jim Rupert and Kathy McCavanagh.

Members of the public included: Arlene Fiano, Beth Harney, Gwen Marrion, Rodney Fournier, John Toomey, Irene
Peterson, Christine Pittsley and Dr. Sarah Sportman.

1.

Call to Order.
P. Sawyer called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

Public Comment.

Gwen Marrion (38 Maple Valley Road) — Opposed to allowing the archeological dig at Heritage Farm.
Thinks this could raise visibility and we could have other people just showing up at the farm trying to dig
up artifacts. Heritage Farm is one of only 32 state designated archeological farms in CT. Saw no plan for
what would happen to any artifacts that would be recovered from this site either.

Irene Peterson (33 LIynwood Drive) — August 12, 2022 sent a letter to the BOS stating that Critical Race
Theory is in our Bolton schools. Very concerned about this and wants to know what we can do about it?
Ms. Peterson previously spoke to Superintendent Heckt who did not say CRT was in the Bolton schools
but did mention something about learning about other cultures. Following the BOE meetings in their May
12, 2022 meeting curriculum that diversity, inclusion and equity practices are embedded throughout the
work in our schools. This is CRT- which is communism. I can’t believe American citizens want this in
our curriculum. There have been several maybe 10 retirements/resignations from our school system. Our
children have been through a lot the last couple of years and are being indoctrinated and sexualized by non-
American teaching. They are the future of this country. Again, I ask what can be done?

John Toomey (45 Hebron Road) — In favor of archeological dig. Not only will students from this country
participate but also students from France. State archeological society will help preserve whatever is found.

In response to CRT- the reason for diversity is so the students beat up other students because of their race.

Rodney Fournier (4 Hanover Farms Road) - Just curious as to the Diversity committees survey results and
when they would be available to the public?

Per P. Sawyer — Diversity Committee survey results are due in to the BOS in October.

Approval of Minutes.

Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve the minutes as presented.
August 2, 2022 — Regular Meeting
August 17, 2022 — Special Meeting A/P
August 25, 2022 — Special Meeting A/P

By: R. Morra 2" A Teller

Vote:
Yes: R. Morra, A. Teller, M. Eremita, R. DePietro and P. Sawyer



No: None
Abstain: None

Movement of agenda items so people in the audience don’t have to wait all evening for information
and votes.

6. Ongoing Business: (see attachment A)
A. Consider and Possibly Act on Heritage Farm Master Site Plan.
Arlene Fiano — Sarah Nelson Edwards got the Plan out to you all last Friday. After review there is no new
information in the plan that had not been submitted during the presentation back in June. This Master Site
Plan was done with town staff and commission members.

Beth Harney — Master Plan tracks exactly the phases that are recommended and budget info given and
when financial benefit can be expected.

A.Teller — Phase 11 expenditures- is it anticipated that it will all be covered by LoCIP money or is there a
town match for this grant?

J. Rupert stated that not all funding would come from LoCIP. The hope is that parking and accessibility
path to the barn will be somewhat covered. There is not a huge match on this grant.

M. Eremita — what project is the LoCIP money NOT covering if we use it for this project?
J. Rupert — there are two pots of LoCIP money.

A. Entitlement money — approximately $238,000 — we can spend this however we want

B. Specific grant for the pathway — can only be used for this purpose.
The ask for this evening is would we approve this plan tonight?
A.Teller is happy we’re finally going to do something with this land. It’s a good plan. First and second
phase could be done with current available funds — unsure about the rest. This will make the farm more
usable and accessible for all.

B. Morra thinks it’s a good realistic plan; exceedingly ambitious — and not good time frame for the plan.

M. Eremita things the first two sections are doable. Has concerns about the funding for the future support
plan.

R. DePietro — very much in support of this project subject to ongoing revisions and changes.

P. Sawyer asks that the farm commission revisit the plan every year to keep it going and so it doesn’t get
pushed to the back burner should others come on to the commission.

Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen accept the Heritage Farm Master Site Plan -(with the
provision that this does not commit the town to funding past phases | and 11).

By: R. DePietro 2"d: R. Morra

Vote:

Yes: R. DePietro, R. Morra, M. Eremita, A. Teller and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None



7D. Discuss State Library Archeological Dig at Bolton Heritage Farm and Possible Impacts on
Paggoli Lease. (See Attachment B)

Christine Pittsley -Special Project Director —CT State Library
Dr. Sarah Sportman - State Archeologist

The archeological dig would be 15 students from CT and 15 from France beginning July 10, 2023 — at no
cost to the town. This dig would not be allowed in the leased hayfields to the Paggioli’s at this time.

Metal detectors would be used to refine a small area and would be minimally invasive. Red areas on the
map provided would be considered out of bounds for this dig per R. Morra. Previous work done while in
private hands is now area owned by the town.

The RED area that shows currently leased land is where they would want to dig.

Any artifacts found at the site would be owned by the Town of Bolton and curated at UCONN.

Any excavation would be with shovel, trowel and brush. No lower than 3 feet by hand.

The site can engage the community. Most other sites would not lead to this type of program. The benefit of
this archeological preserve would be an opportunity to educate the public.

Kyle Paggioli (51 Birch Mountain Road — Leasee) — the 20x 20 area they dig is looking to work (in the red
area on the map) would not affect us. Would like to see the dig videoed for the town for education
purposes. John Toomey would like a copy of the video for the town archives.

R. Morra believes the public should have a say in whether this project moves forward or not.

Can the state put prohibitions on the use of this land based on what is found here? No, they cannot.

This has been pushed for more discussion at the October meeting of the BOS.

8:28 pm — break in meeting.
8:30 pm — meeting called back to order

7C. Consider and Act on Budget for Farm Celebration Event on September 25t
Farm Day event — Sunday, September 25, 2022 3-6 pm, no charge, no rain date — food truck coming.
Proposed $1,000 budget.

Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve $1,000 budget from the Founder’s Day Fund for the
Farm Celebration Event.

By: R. Morra 2"d: R. DePietro

Vote:

Yes: R. Morra, R. DePietro, M. Eremita, A. Teller and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

4. Appointments and Resignations.
A. Resignation — E. Bradley (BOF).
A.Teller would like to thank Emily Bradley for all her hard work. The kids of Bolton are getting
the only bright spot in this.



M. Eremita — sorry to see Emily leave. She has done an excellent job!
P. Sawyer — Thank you Emily for all your hard work. She did a great job!

B. Resignation — T. Michaud (Library Page)

C. Appointments:
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve all the appointments/reappointments given.

1. A. Maulucci (BHF- Renewal)
R. Klein (BHF — Renewal)
C. Moquin (Fire — Renewal)
T. Johnston (Ethics — Renewal)
C. Peter Van Dine (Conservation — Renewal)
C. Haugh (Sr. Citizens Comm. — Alternate Renewal)
7. L. Shea (Sr. Citizens Comm. — Renewal)
8. J. Clark (Veterans)
9. G. Carini (Veterans)
10. C. Udin (Sr. Citizens Comm — Renewal)
And #11 is an addition to tonight’s agenda.
11. M. “Rivers (Conservation) — Alternate -

S

By: M. Eremita 2"d: R. Morra

Vote:

Yes: M. Eremita, R. Morra, R. DePietro, A. Teller, and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

5. Reports & Updates.
A. Properties and Facilities Report.
We responded to Temp Building Committee had on fire department addition and we also phased in
some increases for cemetery lots.

FBL has met with Jim, Pam and Vernon to ask DEEP for better communication on the drawdown
and other points of regulation.

B. FY 22 Budget Report.
Spending is in line with where we would expect it to be. The main concern is the Registrar of
Voters who have expended most of their funds already.

NRMC electricity bill is so high due to A/C being run at finance, senior center and meeting rooms.

C. Consider and Act on A/P Report.
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve the A/P report as presented.

By: R. DePietro 2"d: M. Eremita

Vote:

Yes: R. DePietro, M. Eremita, A. Teller, R. Morra and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None



D. Report and Update on Trails Committee.

1. G. Marrion Meeting with J. Dillon.

G. Marrion had a meeting with Joe Dillon (Town Engineer) regarding the 154 acre property behind the post
office to the Coventry line. $110,000 grant was received in 2017. New trail has been marked out — now we

need to add parking

7. New Business.

. We would like to use the gravel area between Munson’s and Bolton Collision.

There is a site line problem when looking to the left at Bolton Collision

They have spoke w/owner D. Wilson at Bolton Collision

There is a new round of trail money ($9 million) coming out and Gwen sits on the
committee that’s handling this

It was thought that the site line fix would be to move the parking entrance further up
the hill to Munsons- this is not the case and not doable.

Need to meet with C. Wilson about 600 ft site line — he would need to move his cars
back from the road. There is a small area of town property we could offer him so he
would have more parking space — right now he is parking in the DOT right of way.
G. Marrion would like permission to set up a meeting with D. Wilson.

The driveway area is the state DOT staging area. — Can the public use this for public
access? Need to contact DOT about this.

This is also a place we’d like to place a dry hydrant.

A. Discuss and Possibly Act on Leslie Alexander — Bolton Center Road — Solar Radar/Speed

Sign.

Request is for a solar speed sign between the fire house and library. Cost of signs is $4,000. We
currently have two signs in town we move around.
Let’s move one of the signs in this area — maybe near the gazebo for the time being.

B. Consider and Act on Basketball Supervisor Increase in Pay.
Motion: I move the Board of Selectmen approve the correction in the Basketball Supervisor’s pay to

$16.36.
By: R. Morra

Vote:

2nd: A Teller

Yes: R. Morra, A. Teller, R. DePietro, M. Eremita and P. Sawyer

No: None
Abstain: None

8. First Selectman’s Report:

a. COVID-19.

New vaccine coming out — update in October.

b. Other.

Fire department recently held a training with the new trailer behind the pickup truck. This will be
used for getting across the bridge at Mark Anthony. Mike Eremita did a wonderful job on restoring
this trailer. Thank you for

9. Administrative Officer’s Report:
a. Monthly Report.

All set.

b. Bolton Heritage Farm Event Sept. 25",

All set.

c. Other.
None.



Motion: | move the Board of go into Executive Session and include both Jim Rupert and Kathy
McCavanagh.

By: R. Morra 2"d: M. Eremita

Vote:

Yes: R. Morra, A. Teller, R. DePietro, M. Eremita and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

10. Executive Session began at 9:26 p.m.
I. Regarding Cybersecurity
Motion: I move the Board of Selectmen approve the acting Town Administrator be allowed to further
vet and enter into a contract with Novus as our Cybersecurity Vendor.

By: A. Teller 2"d: M. Eremita

Vote:

Yes: A. Teller, M. Eremita, R. Morra, R. DePietro and P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None
ii. Discussion on Personnel Evaluation-Interim Administrative Officer.

Executive Session ended: 10:08 p.m.

Personnel Subcommittee will hold a meeting on Wednesday, September 14, 2022 at 9:00 am to discuss the
Administrative Officer final review and contract.

11. Adjournment.
P. Sawyer adjourned the meeting at 10:12 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted,

Kathy McCavanagh

Please see minutes of subsequent meetings for corrections to these Minutes and any corrections hereto.



TOWN OF BOLTON
BOARD OF SELECTMEN
SPECIAL MEETING
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 20, 2022

MINUTES

The Board of Selectmen held a special meeting on Tuesday, September 20, 2022 with First
Selectman Pam Sawyer presiding. Also, in attendance were selectmen: Robert Morra, Adam
Teller, Chief Financial Officer Jill Collins and Kathy McCavanagh.

1. Call to Order.
P. Sawyer called the meeting to order at 1:30 p.m.

2. Consider and Act on A/P Report.
Motion: | move the Board of Selectmen approve the A/P as presented.

By: R. Morra 2nd: A.Teller
Vote:

Yes: R. Morra, A. Teller, P. Sawyer
No: None

Abstain: None

3. Consider and Act on Budget Transfers.
None.

4. Adjournment.
P. Sawyer adjourned the meeting at 1:36 p.m.

Respectfully,

Kathy McCavanagh

Please see minutes of subsequent meetings for corrections to these minutes and any
corrections hereto.



TOWN OF BOLTON
BOARD/COMMISSION
INTEREST FORM

Thank you for your interest in serving on a board or commission in our community. Volunteers play
a major role in our Town government. The Board of Selectmen or subcommittee will review the
information provided and may ask to meet with you to consider appointment.

Name: EW/C{ /?/2‘ AC@. }17/_)/0)7
Address: / A 0/5/ Lo/ 72)7 / 7?/‘/

Telephone Number: Cell Number: X 12 { 42 s58 7
Email Address:
Political Affiliation:

I am interested in serving on the (name of board/commission) \/6/“‘? 28 514D Com psSign
as a full member and/or alternate

Please provide a brief statement as to why you are interested in serving on this board/commission.

VA ya / Pl /‘/ / ’
F sebjecT [hal desevves ¥ necels allew (1o

Please share any pertinent information on your background, education and experience as it relates to
the board/commission position.

Please add any additional information or comments.

Signed: gg&&f Jﬁcfﬂé‘ﬁryéﬁ'b Date: ?I/ (9? /{ /&Q%

If you have any questions, please contact the Selectman's Office.

N
Please complete this form and return to:
Selectman's Office
222 Bolton Center Road

Bolton, CT 06043
media@boltonct.org
(860) 649-8066 x 6111



McCavamagh, Ka‘thﬂeen

From: Bushnell, Lori

Sent: Wednesday, September 7, 2022 11:29 AM
To: Rupert, Jim

Cc: McCavanagh, Kathleen

Subject: FW: Your CCM Certification

JUST FYI

From: CCM <aheinemeyer@ccm-ct.org>
Sent: Friday, August 19, 2022 3:16 AM

To: Bushnell, Lori <lbushnell@boltonct.org>
Subject: Your CCM Certification

Hello,

At this time, you have completed all of the qualifications to graduate as a Certified Connecticut Municipal Official
(CCMO). Congratulations!

Below, | have outlined what you should expect in the future as an official CCMO.

Today through October 25, 2022: You are welcome to attend as many workshops and webinars as you would like!
October 25, 2022: The CCMO Graduation Ceremony at CCM's Annual Convention, where you will receive your

certificate.
January 1, 2023: It's time to continue your education! CCM will contact you regarding the annual Continuing Education

fee of $50.
January 1 through December 31, 2023: You have the full calendar year to complete a total of 9 credit hours. The
workshops you take can be from any of the developmental areas (Personal Development, Organizational Development,

or Community Development) that you choose.

As we near the date of CCM's Annual Convention, you will be contacted again with additional information on what to
expect at and where to go for the CCMO Graduation Ceremony.

If you have any questions in the meantime, please do not hesitate to contact ccmtraining@ccm-ct.org or (203) 498-
3037.




Bolton Diversity, Equity and
Inclusion Survey

Summary and Analysis

A project of the Bolton Diversity Commission

Weritten by Amanda Gordon, MSW, Chair - Bolton Diversity Commission

With written contributions from Diversity Commission Members: Vice Chair Kawan Gordon, Jennifer Cyr
and input from Paula Myers, John Toomey, Rhea Klein, Anne Decker, Milton Ives and Daniel Bergin

Released October 2022



Table of Contents

EXECURIVE SUIMMIAIY ....ooiiiiiiiiiicieie ettt e e et e e e e e s e s bt e e e e e e sesaaataeeeeeeesaasassteaaeeeeesaasssesaeeeeeseasaassssneaeeessassssennneeeessnnnens 3
BOItON Diversity COMMISSION ..........uiiiiiiiiie ittt et ee ettt e e sttt e e s s sate e e e s sateeeesaaseeeesstaeeeessaeessassaeeesassaeeesasseeeeennsseeesasrenenn 5
1Y L= d 3 Yo Yo Lo o ¥ - PRI 5
VY A D TV [T o T4 =T 4 SR 5
SUIVEY DISEIIDULION. ...t e et e e et e e e e ettt a e e e e ataeeeestaeeesssbeeeessaeeesansaeeeeanssneesansraeens 6
SUIVEY LIMIEAIONS ...ttt ettt e e e e e bbbt e e e e e s e s s aabe b e e e e e e s e s anabtaaeeeeessaassreaeaeeesssansrneaes 6
SUIVEY ANAIYSIS .....oeiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e sttt e e sttt e e e sttt e e e s staeessseaeesaasseeeesssaeeesassaeeeassseeeeansaeeeennseeeesnsseeesnnssaeesnnssenen 6
RESUIES......coeeie ettt ettt ettt e s bt e st e sttt e bt e e s bt e e aae e e s abe e e st e e sa bt e e s et e ea b e e s b e e e ea b e e e abe e e nb e e s beeeeabeenabeeeanbeesbeeenareena 9
Demographics of Respondents and Comparison to Overall Town Population................ccccooiiiiiiiieciin e, 9
LIKErt SCAle QUESTIONS ..........ooiuiiiiiiiiei ettt et b e s b e s at e s a e e et e et e e bt e bt e sae e sueeeae e et e e beesbeesaeesatesabeeabeebeenbeennees 15
QuEStioNSs 1-5 = RatiNG the TOWN..........oooiiiii e e e et e e e st e e e e e s b teeessataeeseastaeessnntaeeesans 16
QUESEION 6 = PersoNal EXPEIIENCE ........ccoccuiiiiiiiiieecciieee ettt e ettt e e e sttt e e s sbteeeesbteeessesteeessbeeeessastaeessnstaeesanssaeessnsseeessns 18
Question 7 — Experience of DisCrimiNation .............cciiiiiiiiii e are e e eaes 18
QUESTION 8 = DIVEISILY IEVEI ........ooeeeeeeiee et e e e e et e e e s e bt e e e e ebteeesebteeeeeaseaeeseseasesassenaeanns 19
NArrative QUESTIONS .......c...oiiiiiiii et s e e sb e st e s b e e e sab e e s be e e s st e e s be e e smreesanaeeameeesareeesnneeas 19
QUESTION 9 = SEFENGLNS..... ..o et e e st e e e st te e e s e bteeeesbeeee e s bteeeeabeaeeeanstaeeeenntaeeeaans 19
QUESTION 10 - ChallENEES.......... ittt e et e e e et e e e s bt e e e e sabeaeeesbteeeesnbteeessastaeesanseaeesanseneessassneessnns 21
QuEestion 11 — NegatiVe EXPEIIENCES .............uuiiiiiiie et e e re e e e e e et e e e e s s e s e te e e e e e eessansaateeeeeeeeesansasreneeeeeean 23
QUESEION 12 — POSItIVE EXPEIIENCES .....ccoeiieeiiiieeee et e et e e e e e e ettt e e e e s e e sababeeeeeeesesansasaeeeeeeesennnserrenaeaenean 24
Question 13- Suggestions fOr IMPrOVEMENTS ................ooociiiiiiiiiee et e e et e e e e bte e e e etteeeeebeeeeeeseeeeesnsseeaeanns 25
ANALYSIS DY GroUP IAENTITIEIS .........ovieiiiiiieeeeec e e e e e e e e e e e e e s s ttbaeeeeeeeesaatsbaaaeeeeeeesatsaasaeaeeeesnssrreeees 28
T Ve 1T T £ PP 33
CommisSion RECOMMENUALIONS ..........oiiiiiiii et e st sa e s b e e e s bt e sar e e e neeesareeesaneesnnes 36
Atachment A — RESOIULION ..ottt b e bttt ettt e e be e she e sae e sabesabe et e e bt e sbeesmeeeateenbeeteens 39
Attachment B — Working DefiNitioNs............cooouiiiiiiiiiii et e st e e e st e e e s e btee e e sateeessbtaeeesnraeasanes 40
ATLACHMENT € = SUIVEY.......oooiiiiieieeee ettt e e eeectr et e e e e e e st b aeeeeeeeeestaraaaeeaeeesasssbbaaaeeeeesassssaaaseeesesasssssaseeeeessnssrrseens 41
Attachment D -ProClamation ............c.ooiiiiioiieiie ettt st ettt e s bt e s bt e sat e st s b e b e s b e re e eaeeeneereens 48



Executive Summary

Introduction

The Town of Bolton Diversity Commission (The Commission) was created by the Bolton Board of Selectman in 2021 to
advise and assist the Board with issues of diversity, equity and inclusion that may exist within the town government and
community-at-large. The Commission, in an effort to assess the feelings and experiences of other town residents,
employees and students regarding Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI), deemed it necessary as a first step to create and
distribute a survey to these constituents. This would ensure the assessment might be as representative as possible and
not only reflect the views of Commission members.

Throughout the process of creating The Commission and the survey, statements were made by Selectpersons indicating
surprise that there may be issues related to DEI in the Bolton community, within government and the broader
community. There was an overall desire expressed that everyone in town should have respect for one-another and that
the town should be welcoming to all and if there are issues, “we have to fix it.”?

The results of this survey, while not analyzed from a standpoint of statistical significance, do indicate that there are
survey respondents that have felt disrespected and unwelcomed in our Town either by town employees or by the words
or actions of other community residents. As the expressed desire is that Bolton be a Town that is welcoming to all, the
survey responses suggest changes will need to be made in order to attain this goal.

Survey Limitations and Results

The survey was distributed via social media, via flyers posted at business and via hardcopy at key locations throughout
town. All responses were voluntary. The Commission acknowledges that due to the method of distribution which
required respondents to choose to answer the survey questions there is a self-selection bias. This means that ultimately,
there may be something that separates those that chose to respond to the survey, from those that opted not to respond
to the survey, such as having stronger feelings about Diversity, Equity and Inclusion, either positive, or negative.

A total of 182 survey responses were collected, 162 of which were from current residents representing a 4.1% response
rate. While, the Commission had hoped that the survey respondents would reflect the overall population of Bolton,
several populations are over-represented including 35-44 year olds, females, those with higher educational attainment,
those with a disability and those with a left-leaning political ideology.

Findings

Through the quantitate comparison of Average Ratings and Favorability Percentages for the overall respondent pool and
identified subpopulation and the surfacing of topics present in the responses to narrative questions, the Commission
identified several themes that have been presented as general findings. First, respondents did not agree about whether
or not Bolton is a welcoming town, though many indicated a desire that it be. Second, there is subset of respondents
who feel strongly that diversity, equity and inclusion efforts are unnecessary and unwelcome in Bolton. Third, persons
with disabling conditions in town reported negative opinions about the town and provided examples of these negative
experiences. Four, many of the minority subpopulations analyzed reported reduced rates of a “sense of belonging” than
other majority groups, even in cases where these groups rated Bolton more favorably in other parts of the survey. Five,
affordability, specifically affordable housing, was elevated as a barrier to increasing diversity, equity and inclusion in
town. Six, residents are desirous of having more opportunities to engage in person with other residents both at events
with a DEI lens or focus as well as in general as a means to get to know one another.

1 Bolton Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes January 5, 2021 https://cdn.branchcms.com/EzoynNLyL 2-
1704/docs/boards/selectmen/2021/minutes/BOS _01-05-21 Minutes.pdf



https://cdn.branchcms.com/EzoynNLyL2-1704/docs/boards/selectmen/2021/minutes/BOS_01-05-21_Minutes.pdf
https://cdn.branchcms.com/EzoynNLyL2-1704/docs/boards/selectmen/2021/minutes/BOS_01-05-21_Minutes.pdf

Recommendations
Following the identification of the aforementioned findings, the Commission came up with recommendations that
members felt would address the concerns surfaced through the survey. These recommendations are as follows:

e The Board of Selectmen should adopt a formal proclamation declaring a commitment to diversity, equity and
inclusion as a community priority so that the official stance of the town is made public.

e The Board of Selectmen should institute a permanent voluntary Human Rights and Equity Commission to
continue the work on diversity, equity and inclusion and aid in the monitoring and implementing of these
recommendations and others that may follow.

e The Town should implement formal, regular, diversity, equity and inclusion training for all Town Employees,
elected officials and volunteers serving on a permanent Town Committee or Commission. Such training will
provide individuals with the knowledge and skillsets to respond appropriately when discriminatory and
unacceptable behaviors or comments are made in public settings to ensure that no one feels excluded due to
their in-group identities.

e The Town of Bolton should make increasing affordable housing a top priority. This would increase Bolton
accessibility to new, diverse residents while ensuring it remains a viable place to live for our current residents
and hopefully reduce what is expected to be an ongoing decline in Bolton’s population.

e The Town should take further action to assess how Bolton is ensuring the rights of Bolton’s residents with
disabilities are being met. These details were outside of the scope of this survey but the negative response from
this population suggests more must done to ensure Bolton is accessible and can be enjoyed by people with
disabilities.

e The Town should be deliberate about providing opportunities for Bolton residents to engage with one another
on the topics of diversity, equity and inclusion to increase awareness and empathy through the building of
relationships.

The full details of the results, analysis and findings can be found in the full Commission Report that follows and will be
posted on the Town of Bolton’s website along with the survey data at https://town.boltonct.org/.



https://town.boltonct.org/

Bolton Diversity Commission

In January of 2021, the Bolton Board of Selectman unanimously voted to create a Diversity Commission (The
Commission) to advise and assist the Board with issues of diversity and inclusion that may arise within the town
government and community-at-large, see Resolution, Attachment A. The Commission was formed with the intent to
ensure that the Town of Bolton is welcoming to all current and future residents, students, businesses and employees. In
November 2021 the commission held their first meeting. In March 2022 the Diversity Commission released two surveys
to the public (one for school aged youth and one for adults) to assess the status of diversity and inclusion issues in town.
The commission made it a priority to conduct this community assessment and collect input on the topic from a group of
those who live, learn and work in Bolton. The survey was completely confidential and open to the public for two months.
This report covers the results and analysis of the adult survey (Attachment C).

Methodology

The Diversity Commission formed a two-person sub-committee to work on the creation of the survey for presentation to
the broader Commission. It was developed over a period of three months and was presented to the Board of Selectmen
at their March 2022 Regular meeting. The Board of Selectman approved the survey and the distribution plan with
changes as discussed during the meeting.

Survey Development

Early on in its formation the Bolton Diversity Commission agreed to a set of working definitions for some key terms
related to Diversity, Equity and Inclusion to allow the members of the commission to utilize a common language and
increase understanding between members, Attachment B. Included in this list were the terms Diversity and Equity. The
Commission defined the two terms as follows:

DIVERSITY- the condition of having or being composed of differing elements, including an infinite range of individual
unique characteristics, identities and experiences such as race, gender, ideology, religion, sexual orientation, age,
physical ability, socioeconomic status, educational background, geographic location, marital and parental status and
more.

EQUITY —the absence of avoidable or remediable differences among groups of people, whether those groups are
defined socially, economically, demographically or geographically. The achievement of equal OUTCOMES, which may
require the unequal provision of resources or opportunity to address imbalances created by systems of oppression.

As such, the Commission utilized this inclusive definition of Diversity when creating the Diversity Survey and sought to
include questions that would identify if there were inequitable outcomes and experiences occurring in town.

The subcommittee began by doing research into existing surveys created or used by municipalities and city governments
to assess diversity, equity and inclusion issues within their local communities. Many resources identified were targeted
to Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) efforts within the workspace and were not always compatible with the efforts of
The Commission. Ultimately, five DEI survey resources were utilized as inspiration for the development of the Town of
Bolton Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Survey. These five resources were as follows:

The City of Melrose Massachusetts Diversity, Equity &, Inclusion survey 2021
The Springfield, MO Inclusion survey 2020

The West Des Moines Diversity, Equity and Inclusivity Survey 2019

The Methuen, MA, Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Survey 2021

Polco Community Equity and Inclusion Survey

vk wnNE

In some instances questions from these various tools were used verbatim in the Bolton DEI survey, in other instances
the questions were adapted by the Commission to better reflect the needs in Bolton. Attempts were made to make the
language of the survey as inclusive as possible.



The final survey contained a mix of Likert scale, multiple choice and open ended questions in an effort to collect both
guantitative and qualitative data for analysis. Respondents were also asked a variety of multiple choice, drop down
questions related to their demographics and their personal identities. All questions were voluntary and thus not
answered by every respondent. Additionally, many of these questions included an option to choose “other” and to type
in a response of their choosing. These answers are included in the Results section of this report.

All respondents were asked to enter their zip code and to respond to a question which asked about their affiliation with
the Town of Bolton. The Commission made the decision not to use a service that would verify the identity of each
respondent as it was deemed that would serve as an increased barrier to participation. Alternatively, these questions
were utilized to identify invalid respondents with no connection to Bolton, Connecticut.

Survey Distribution

The survey was available in hardcopy format and online. The online version of the survey was created using Google
Forms, which is a free resource, making the survey accessible to anyone with the link. The link to the online survey was
shared via the Town of Bolton website and Facebook page and shared to other town pages and groups on social media.
Reminders about the survey were re-shared every two weeks on social media during the two-month response collection
phase. Additionally, the link was shared twice through the emailed Bolton Bulletin, and flyers with a QR code to access
the survey were posted at local businesses. Hardcopies were distributed to the Town Hall, Senior Center, and Library.

Survey Limitations

The Commission acknowledges that due to the method of distribution which required respondents to choose to answer
the survey questions there is a self-selection bias. This means that ultimately, there may be something that separates
those that chose to respond to the survey, from those that opted not to respond to the survey such as having stronger
feelings about Diversity, Equity and Inclusion, either positive, or negative. Additionally, upon analysis of the survey and
review of results, it became apparent that some populations were inadvertently left out of Questions 5 or 7 which
impeded the ability of the Commission to assess how welcoming and how discriminatory Bolton and it’s residents are for
various populations. This included those who identified with a minority sexual orientation, those without secondary
education, those with other than English as a preferred language, and those with lower incomes. As further detailed
below, while the Commission had hoped that the survey respondents would reflect the overall population of Bolton,
several populations are over-represented including 35-44 year olds, females, those with higher educational attainment,
those with a disability and those with a left-leaning political ideology.

Survey Analysis
The survey collected voluntary demographic and descriptor data from respondents. This allowed the survey responses
to be analyzed by groups of people who identified similarly.

When considering which demographic questions to ask and what to analyze consideration was given to group identities
which belong to protected classes. According to State of Connecticut law, discrimination is illegal across four different
types of transactions: housing, employment, credit and the full and equal enjoyment of goods, services or facilities, for
the following classes: age, ancestry, color, learning disability, marital status, intellectual disability, national origin,
physical disability, mental disability, race, religious creed, sex, gender identity or expression, sexual orientation and
status as a veteran. Additional protected classes for housing transactions include: lawful source of income, use of a
service animal, and familial status. For employment transactions, those with a prior legal / criminal history may also be
protected.? While the survey was not necessarily assessing Bolton’s performance around these four transaction types it
did directly and indirectly allude to housing, employment and enjoyment of services and spaces, making these
categorizations appropriate jumping off points for the analysis of survey results.

2 https://portal.ct.gov/CHRO/Complaint-Process/Complaint-Process/Who-is-
Protected#:~:text=Age%2C%20ancestry%2C%20color%2C%20learning,and%20status%20as%20a%20veteran.



https://portal.ct.gov/CHRO/Complaint-Process/Complaint-Process/Who-is-Protected#:~:text=Age%2C%20ancestry%2C%20color%2C%20learning,and%20status%20as%20a%20veteran
https://portal.ct.gov/CHRO/Complaint-Process/Complaint-Process/Who-is-Protected#:~:text=Age%2C%20ancestry%2C%20color%2C%20learning,and%20status%20as%20a%20veteran

Binary Factors

For the purpose of analysis, most of the identifiers were turned into binary factors by grouping responses together. The
method for creating these binary factors is detailed below.

Military Participation

Respondents were asked “Are/Were you a member of the U.S. Armed Forces?” with the response options of: | have not
been in the military, Active Military, Reservist, ROTC and Veteran. For the purposes of analysis a Military Participation
factor was created. Those who responded “I have not been in the Military,” who left the answer blank, or filled in
“other,” were listed as “No” for Military Participation. All other responses were categorized as “Yes.”

BIPOC

Respondents were asked “What is your racial/ethnic identity? (Choose all that apply.)” with the response options of:
Spanish, Hispanic, or Latin(o)(a)(x), Arabic or Middle Eastern, American Indian or Alaskan Native, Asian, Asian Indian or
Pacific Islander, Black or African American, White. For the purposes of analysis a BIPOC (Black, Indigenous, People of
Color) factor was created. Respondents who checked off only “White,” who left the answer blank or filled in “other,”
were given a BIPOC response of “No.” All other responses were categorized as “Yes.”

Post-Secondary Education

Respondents were asked “What is your highest completed level of education?” with the response options of: some high
school, high school graduate or GED, Some College/ Technical Degree/ Associates Degree, Bachelor's Degree, Master's
Degree, Doctoral or Professional Degree. For the purposes of analysis a Post-Secondary Education factor was created.
Respondents who checked off “some high school” or “High School Graduate or GED,” or who left the answer blank or
filled in “other,” were given a Post- Secondary Education response of “No.” All other responses were categorized as
“Yes.”

Minority Sexual Orientation

Respondents were asked “Which term best describes your sexual orientation?” with the response options of: Asexual,
Bisexual, Gay/Lesbian/Heterosexual, Pansexual, Queer, Questioning, and Other. For the purposes of analysis a Minority
Sexual Orientation factor was created. Respondents who checked off “Heterosexual,” or who left the answer blank or
filled in “other,” were given a Minority Sexual Orientation response of “No.” All other responses were categorized as
“Yes.”

Minority Gender Identify

Respondents were asked “What is your gender identity?” with the response options of: Male, Female, Transgender,
Questioning, Gender Non-conforming or Non-Binary, and Other. For the purposes of analysis a Minority Gender Identity
factor was created. Respondents who checked off “Male” or “Female” or who left the answer blank or filled in “other,”
were given a Minority Gender Identity response of “No.” All other responses were categorized as “Yes.”

Other

Other questions were asked as Binary questions in the survey lending themselves to simple analysis. These questions
included:

e Disabling Condition: Do you have a physical, mental, or emotional condition that impacts and/or shapes your
participation in work and society? Yes or No

e English Preference: English your first/preferred language? Yes Or No

e Immigrant: Which best describes your country of origin? My country of Origin is the USA or | am originally from
another country.



Non-Binary Factors

Some demographic and descriptor questions either did not easily lend themselves to binary factors or required more
nuanced analysis and therefore were left as they were or consolidated into fewer groupings. This includes the following
factors.

Political Affiliation

Respondents were asked “How would you characterize your political views?” with the response options of: Far Left,
Liberal, Moderate, Conservative, Far Right, Undecided, and Other. For the purposes of analysis a Political Affiliation
factor was created. Respondents who checked off “Far Left” or “Liberal” were grouped into “Left leaning.” Those who
responded “Conservative” or “Far Right” were grouped into “Right Leaning.” Those who responded “Moderate” were
left as “Moderate.” Those who responded “undecided” were left as “undecided” while “other” and blanks were grouped
as “unknown.”

Other
Other questions where responses were utilized for analysis with more than one option include the following:

e Income Bracket: Roughly what Area Median Income range does your annual household income fall into?

o Below 30% of the AMI (< $22K for an individual or $31K for a family of 4)
o Between 30-50% of the AMI ($22K-$36.5K for an individual, $31K-$52K for a family of 4)
o Between 50-80% of the AMI ($36.5K-$56K for an individual, $52K - $80K for a family of 4)
o Between 80-120% of the AMI ($56K-$84K for an individual, or $80k-$120K for a family of 4)
o Greater than 120% of the AMI (>$84K for an individual, or >$120K for a family of 4)
e Age: Which category reflects your age group?
o 18-24
o 24-34
o 3544
o 45-54
o 55-64
o 65-74
o 75+

e Religion: What is your religious or spiritual identity?
o Agnostic/ Atheist,
Buddhist,
Christian,
Hindu,
Jewish,
Muslim,
Sikh,
Spiritual but no religious affiliation,
No affiliation,
o Other
e Bolton Affiliation: Please let us know which of the following applies to you.
o lam a current resident of Bolton, CT.
| currently work in Bolton, CT but am not a resident.
| am a prior resident of Bolton, CT.
| previously worked in Bolton, CT.
| was a previous student in Bolton, CT.
None of the above.

O O O O O O O O

O O O O O



Results

Demographics of Respondents and Comparison to Overall Town Population

Overall 182 responses were received, four of which were completed via hardcopy and the remainder of which were
collected via the Google Forms survey online. Of the 182 responses, 162 were from people that are current residents of
Bolton, CT. According to the 2020 census Bolton has an estimated 4,902 residents, about 3,991 of whom are adults who
may have responded to this survey. With 162 surveys by residents this represents a 4.1% response rate.

For the purposes of the comparisons to Bolton demographics below, responses from all 182 surveys are taken into
consideration despite the fact that 20 respondents do not currently live in town.

Age Group
Below is a chart that shows the reported age range of all 182 respondents. Four respondents (2%) did not respond to
this question and are indicated as unknown below.

Age Group Unknown

2%
65-74
13% |

25-34
9%
35-44
30%

45-54 &
17%

Compared to 2020 Census data from Bolton, CT, the survey respondents were more likely to be 35-44 and much less
likely to be 18-24 than the population of Bolton. Other age ranges are not too far off from their distribution among
Bolton adults.

Age Survey Respondents 2020 Census
18-24 2% 12.5%
25-34 9% 7.8%
35-44 30% 16.1%
45-54 18% 19.0%
55-64 20% 19.6%
65-74 13% 15.8%
75+ 7% 9.1%
Unknown 2% 0




Race / Ethnicity
The chart below outlines the Race and Ethnicity of respondents based on the Simple Race category outlined above.

Respondent by Race/Ethnicity

White | 55

Unknown [ 16
Spanish, Hispanic, or Latin(o)(a)(x) §§ 10
Multi-Racial 8§ 13

Black or African American | 2

Asian, Asian Indian or Pacific

Islander I3

0 50 100 150

Compared to the composition of Bolton residents, the survey respondents (excluding those who did not identify a race or
chose to enter an “other” response that could not be categorized) are slightly more likely to identify as black, indigenous
or person of color. This may be expected given the nature of the survey and its focus on diversity and equity.

% of Bolton Residents by Race

Race % of Respondents by Race Category Category

Asian, Asian Indian or Pacific Islander 2% 3%
Black or African American 1% 1%
Multi-Racial 8% 2%
Spanish, Hispanic, or Latin(o)(a)(x) 6% 6%
White 83% 88%
Grand Total 100% 100%

Language Spoken in the Home

Respondents were asked to choose whether English was their first/preferred language. Four (4) of the survey
respondents did not answer this question. Of the remaining 178 respondents, five (5) indicated that English was not
their first/preferred language. When compared to Language Spoken at Home in the 2020 census data for Bolton
residents, survey respondents were more likely to have English as their first/preferred/spoken language than the overall
population of Bolton. The questions in the survey and the census were asked differently and this must be taken into
consideration when making the comparison below. According to the Census data, those who spoke languages other
than English in the home includes Spanish (2.6%), Indo-European languages (8.1%) and Asian and Pacific Islander
Languages (.2%).

% of Respondents by % of Bolton Residents By
English as First/Preferred Language Spoken At Home
Language language
English / (English Only for Census) 97% 89.1%
Other Language 3% 10.9%
Grand Total 100% 100%

10



Native and Foreign Born

Survey respondents were asked whether their country of origin was the United States of America or another country. Six
(6) respondents did not answer this question. Of the remaining 176 respondents, 12 (7%) indicated being foreign-born
while 164 (93%) were born in the United States. This is comparable to the town as a whole with 8% reporting to be
foreign-born in Census data.

Gender Identity

Below is a chart that shows the reported gender identity of 177 respondents. Seven (7) respondents did not answer this
question and are indicated as unknown below. The remaining five (5) respondents chose “other” and specified their own
response as listed below.

Gender Identity

Questioning, 1
| _ Unknown, 7

Transgender, 1

|
Gender Non-Conforming
or Non-Binary, 3

Other Responses

“None of your business because it should make zero difference to you.”
“This is a stupid question which accepts a widespread falsehood.”

“You have no right to ask, nor should it matter.”

“There's only Male and female”

“Not Sure”

The Census asks respondents to choose their sex, not their gender identity. Therefore when comparing the two, this
difference should be taken into consideration. Excluding respondents who answered the Gender Identity question with
anything other than Male or Female the comparison to the overall population of Bolton according to the 2020 census is
below. Survey respondents were much more likely to identify as Female than the overall population of Bolton.

% of Respondents by Gender % of Bolton Residents by Sex
Gender Identity/Sex Identity
Male 32.7% 48.1%
Female 67.3% 51.9%
Grand Total 100% 100%

11



Sexual Orientation

Below is a chart that shows the reported Sexual Orientation of 178 respondents. Eighteen (18) respondents did not
answer this question and are indicated as unknown below. The remaining four (4) respondents chose “other” and
specified their own response as listed below. This data is not available on the Census site, so comparisons to the general
town population are unavailable.

Sexual Orientation

Unknown , 18, 10% Asexual, 4, 2% Bisexual, 5, 3%

’, Gay/Lesbian, 11, 6%

Questioning, 3, 2%

Queer, 1, 1%

Pansexual, 4, 2%

Other Responses

“Refuse to answer due to privacy...”

“Six out of the seven choices above are disorientations.”

" H . H ”
None of your business because it should make zero difference to you

“Not important”

Military Status

Survey respondents were asked to identify their military status from a list of five options including no military service,
active military, reserves and veterans. Eight (8) respondents did not answer this question. Of the remaining 174
respondents 14 indicated military involvement with 11 of those being veterans. While the Census data does not indicate
an active or reserve military status it does ask about veteran status with 9.4% of residents being veterans compared to
6.3% of survey respondents. Therefore, veterans were slightly underrepresented amongst survey respondents than
within the town as a whole.

12



Education Level
Below is a graph that shows the reported education level of all 182 respondents. When compared the overall

population of Bolton, survey respondents were more likely to have attained a higher level of education. Due to the
Census responses available for Education Level, some categories were combined to allow for this comparison and
“unknown” responses were excluded with percentages being recalculated.

Level of Education

Some College/ Technical ~ Unknown, 7, 4%

Degree/Associates Degree, 3
20% Bachelor's
Degree, 52, 28%

Master's Degree,
54, 30%

Doctoral or
Professional
Degree, 24, 13%

High School Graduate or

GED, 9, 5%
% of Respondents by % of Bolton Residents by
Education Level Edu. Level Edu Level
High school or equivalent degree 5% 27.5%
Some college/ technical degree /Associates degree 21% 23.4%
Bachelor’s Degree 30% 23.9%
Graduate or Professional Degree 45% 20.8%
Grand Total 100% 100%

Household Income
Respondents were asked to estimate where their households fell with regard to the Area Median Income when provided

with the earnings range for a household of one person and a household of four people. Fifteen (15) respondents did not
answer this question. The responses of the remaining 167 are below. There is no comparable data from the census,
however, the median family income in Bolton is listed as $133,029 which is in line with the majority of survey
respondents indicating they are over 120% of the AMI or $120K for a family of four.

% of

Row Labels Respondents

Below 30% of the AMI (< $22K for an individual or $31K for a family of 4) 2.99%
Between 30-50% of the AMI ($22K-$36.5K for an individual, $31K-$52K for a family of 4) 4.19%
Between 50-80% of the AMI ($36.5K-$56K for an individual, $52K - S80K for a family of 4) 14.37%
Between 80-120% of the AMI (S56K-$84K for an individual, or $80k-$120K for a family of 4) 27.54%
Greater than 120% of the AMI (>$84K for an individual, or >5120K for a family of 4) 50.90%
Grand Total 100.00%

Conditions that Impact Participation/ Disabling Condition

Respondents were asked if they identified as having a physical, mental or emotional condition that impacts/shapes their
participation in work and society. Wording for this question was intentionally chosen so that the connotation was not
negative as the word “Disability” indicates. Six (6) respondents did not answer this question. Of the remaining 176
respondents 28 (16%) responded “Yes.” According to the Census, about 10.3% of Bolton residents live with a disability

13



such as hearing, vision, cognitive, ambulatory, self-care and independent living difficulty. Therefore, survey respondents
with a condition that impacts their participation were over represented compared to the overall town. As the Census
does not specifically mention emotional/behavioral conditions, the Census data could be an underrepresentation of the
town’s total population living with a condition that impacts their participation in society.

Political Views
Below is a chart that shows the reported political views of 174 respondents. Eleven (11) respondents did not answer this

guestion and are indicated as unknown below. The remaining eight (8) respondents chose “other” and specified their
own response as listed below.

Political Affiliation
Unknown , 11, 6%

Conservative, 27, 15%

-

Undecided, 12, 7%
Far Left, 7, 4%

Moderate,
55, 32%

Other Responses

“Bull Moose Party”

“Depending on what we are voting on”

“Informed, principled, and rational. In current parlance, a racist bigot.”
“Liberal conservative”

“Moderately Libertarion”

“None of your business because it should make zero difference to you”
“Once again, you decide to focus on labels. Not very inclusive, is it?”
“this is why you are making issues”

This data is not available on the Census site, so comparisons to the general town population are unavailable. However,
voter registration from March of 2021 had the following breakdown suggesting that the survey respondents were more
likely to be liberal/ left leaning in their political ideologies compared to the average Bolton resident.

Party Number | Percentage
Democrat 1129 30.5%
Republican 988 26.7%
Unaffiliated 1522 41.1%
Other 66 1.8%

Total 3705 1

14



Religion/ Spiritual Identity

Below is a chart that shows the reported religious/spiritual identity of 176 respondents. Fourteen (14) respondents did
not answer this question and are indicated as unknown below. The remaining eight (6) respondents chose “other” and
specified their own response as listed below. Census data is not available for religious or spiritual identities, therefore no
comparison to the Bolton general population can be made.

Religious/Spiritual Identity

unknown, 14, 8% Agnostic/ Atheist, 22, 12%

Spiritual but no religious
affiliation, 27, 15% Buddhist, 1, 1%
Sikh, 1, 1% —
Christian, 87,
49%

Mo affiliation, 19, 11%

Muslim, 1, 1%

lewish, 4, 2%

Other Responses

“Unitarian Universalist” (3)

“Pagan”

“None of your business because it should make zero difference to you”
“I don't belong to any organized religion. 1'm a devout Catholic.”

Bolton Affiliation

Survey respondents were asked to choose their affiliation to Bolton from a set of mutually exclusive options. As this
guestion was used to validate responses, an “other” option was not provided. All 182 respondents chose an answer
from the list provided. Results are below.

Bolton Affiliation Count Rate

| am a current resident of Bolton, CT 162 89.01%
| am a prior resident of Bolton, CT. 9 4.95%
| currently work in Bolton, CT but am not a resident. 2 1.10%
| previously worked in Bolton, CT. 2 1.10%
| was a previous student in Bolton, CT. 7 3.85%
None of the above. 0 0.00%
Grand Total 182 100.00%

Likert Scale Questions

Results of the survey were analyzed by assigning weights to each response as outlined below. Additionally, responses
were assigned a favorability rating as outlined below. Respondents who chose “Don’t Know” or left the question blank
were removed from the weighted and favorability rating scores. The number and percentage of respondents who
responded to each question with other than a “Don’t know” or “blank” response are indicated below for each question.
The more respondents who answered the question, the more valid and representative the response is.

15



Questions 1-5 — Rating the Town

For questions 1- 5, responses were weighted as follows Poor =1, Fair = 2, Good = 3, Excellent = 4 and Don’t Know =0
(which was excluded). Then the average score across all respondents who answered the question was obtained. Average
scores of 1-2.5 indicate an unfavorable response with scores closer to 0 being the least favorable. Average scores of 2.5-
4 indicate a more favorable response, with scores closer to 4 being the most favorable. This allowed responses to be
viewed on a scale. Additionally responses were grouped with Good and Excellent indicating a “Favorable” response and
Poor or Fair, indicating “unfavorable responses. This allowed for a binary grouping of each response.

1) Please rate Bolton on each of the following Avg % # %
Rating | Favorable | Responses | Responses
Response
Making all residents feel welcome 2.49 49.7% 167 91.76%
Attr.actlng people from diverse backgrounds to live, work or own 1.95 31.17% 154 84.62%
businesses in Bolton
Valuing and demonstrating respect for residents from diverse 537 451% 153 84.07%
backgrounds
Treating all residents fairly 25 52.20% 159 87.36%
Providing a safe and secure environment for residents of all 552 54.72% 159 87 36%
backgrounds
Providing equal employment opportunities to residents of all 554 51.49% 101 55.49%
backgrounds
Providing equal access to housing for residents of all backgrounds 297 40.00% 135 74.18%
Welcoming residents from all baFk.grounds. to participate in local 547 48.03% 152 83.52%
government and community decision-making
Creating awareness of Bolton's diversity 2.08 32.26% 155 85.16%
Offering gathering places for diverse groups to get together 2.04 32.39% 142 78.02%
2) Please rate the Bolton TOWN GOVERNMENT on each of the Avg % # %
following Rating | Favorable | Responses | Responses
Response
Creating a community welcoming to residents of all backgrounds 245 47.02% 151 82.97%
Treating all residents with reSpeCt 261 55.77% 156 85.71%
Treating all residents fairly 258 55.03% 149 81.87%
Pro_vldlng opportunities for residents with different opinions to voice 552 52 83% 159 87 36%
their concerns
Providing translated materials on the Town website and through Town 543 48.94% 94 51 65%
departments
En.s%n:mg the town is well-designed for' |r1d|V|duaIs 'Wlth differing ' 541 146.40% 195 68.68%
abilities to get around freely, and participate fully in the community.

16




3) Please rate the Bolton SCHOOL SYSTEM on each of the following Avg % # %
Rating | Favorable | Responses | Responses
Response
Creating a community welcoming to residents of all backgrounds 261 56.12% 139 76.37%
Treating all residents with respect 2.60 56.93% 137 75.27%
Treating all residents falrly 2.58 56.52% 138 75.82%
Pro_wdmg opportunities for residents with different opinions to voice 557 56.92% 130 71.43%
their concerns
Providing translated materials on the Town website and through Town 543 50.00% 82 45.05%
departments
4) Please rate the Bolton LAW ENFORCEMENT on each of the Avg % # %
following Rating | Favorable | Responses | Responses
Response
Creating a community welcoming to residents of all backgrounds 274 60.95% 105 57.69%
Treating all residents with respect 2.77 64.86% 111 60.99%
Treating all residents fairly 2.79 65.45% 110 60.44%
5) Please rate how the Bolton community does with ensuring Avg % # %
the following groups of people feel welcome in Bolton. Rating | Favorable | Responses | Responses
Response
People .Wlth dlfferlng abilities (physmal, intellectual, developmental, 543 48.00% 125 68.68%
neurodiverse, emotional, behavioral)
People V\{hO identify as transgender, non-binary or gender non- 594 39.64% 111 60.99%
conforming.
People who Identlfy as male 3.21 81.95% 133 73.08%
People who identify as female 2.96 73.13% 134 73.63%
People who identify as belonging to a minority/marginalized race/ o o
ethnicity (i.e. Black, Asian, Indigenous, Arabic, Latin(o)(a)(x), etc.) 2.40 47.29% 129 70.88%
People whose first language is not English 239 45.38% 119 65.38%
People who are not U.S. citizens 238 44.04% 109 59.89%
People of non-Christian faiths 259 52.59% 116 63.74%
People who are veterans or military personnel 3.18 82.84% 134 73.63%
People who are older 3.03 | 78.52% 149 81.87%
People who are younger 279 | 63.70% 135 74.18%
People who have lower income levels 2.29 40.31 129 70.88%

17




Question 6 — Personal Experience

Question 6 asked respondents to choose the response that matched their view for seven different statements about the
respondent’s personal experiences. The scale ranged from Strongly Disagree (1) to Strongly Agree (5) with Don’t Know
rated as neutral (3). For this question responses of Strongly Agree and Agree were rated as “Favorable,” while Strongly
Disagree and Disagree were rated as “Unfavorable.” For question 6, respondents who answered “Don’t Know” were
included in the weighted analysis but not included in the favorability rating. Respondents who did not answer were

excluded from the formulas.

6) Please choose the answer that matches your view: Avg % # %

Rating | Favorable | Responses | Responses
Response

| can be my full, authentic self in Bolton. 3.49 71.43% 179 98.35%

I am likely to recommend living in Bolton to a friend or family member 3.49 79 48% 180 98.90%

who asks

| can raise issues about unfair treatment without fear of consequences | 3 14 55.63% 180 98.90%

| feel a sense of belonging in Bolton. 3.42 68.67% 179 98.35%

I encqurage people in Boltf)n to share their unique perspectives and 381 83.44% 179 98.35%

experiences related to their background

| frequently ask a person from a different group (race/ethnicity,

religion, gender, sexual orientation, ability, etc.) about how my 2.85 43.64% 175 96.15%

behavior has impacted them.

| frequently interact with people from other backgrounds in Bolton 3.32 61.87% 177 97.25%

Question 7 — Experience of Discrimination

Question 7 asked respondents if they had experienced discrimination in Bolton in the last 5 years based on different
identities they might associate themselves with. As not all respondents associate with all of the below identities
response rates for this question varied greatly, as such the data below indicates the number of respondents who
indicated they had been discriminated against based on the identified factor.

7) To what extent, if at all, have YOU personally experienced discrimination
based on each of the following in the Town of Bolton in the past 5 years?

# Of Respondents who said “Yes”

Age 18

Gender ldentity 12

Race/s 21

National Origin (Birth Country) 14

Religion 17

Political Affiliation 85

Differing Physical Ability 16

Differing Intellectual/Developmental Ability 19
Differing Emotional/Behavioral Ability 22
Sexual Orientation 20

18




Question 8 — Diversity level

Question 8 asked people the following “Please choose a number on the scale based on how much diversity YOU feel
Bolton should have, with (1) being much less, (9) being much more and (5) being you think Bolton's diversity level is
perfect just as it is.” Of the 182 total respondents 180 answered this question. Below are the results. The average
desired level of diversity on a scale of 1-9 was 6.8 indicating that most respondents felt that more diversity is needed in
Bolton.

Level of Diversity Desired by
Respondents

43

w
-
=
w
[
=
o
o
)
w
o
(T8
@)
*

4 5 6

LEVEL OF DIVERSITY DESIRED
1 =LESS, 5 = PERFECT AS IS, 9 = MUST MORE

Narrative Questions3

Responses to narrative questions were reviewed and grouped into categories with other similar responses or “themes.”
The narrative questions and resultant themes for each are outlined below. Themes are listed in order starting with the
theme that had the most responses, to the least. In each instance, not every response lent itself to categorization and
thus were not included in the grouping of responses into themes.

Question 9 - Strengths

Respondents were asked to “Please describe a couple of Bolton’s strengths with respect to diversity, equity or
inclusion.” Of the 182 respondents, 92, or 50%, provided a response to this prompt. Through the analysis of these
responses six (6) different themes emerged as outlined below.

Bolton’s welcoming to all as a strength

Just over a quarter of responses (25), the majority, fell into this category. There was a sentiment that Bolton is a
welcoming community that most are supportive of all other people regardless of their identities, or that the majority of
people support diversity, equity and inclusion.

e “I believe the community has a strong base of welcoming, supportive, and driven individuals that are ensuring [diversity
equity and inclusion] are a reality for Bolton.”

e “Everyone is cared about by the residents. Great diversity and good people.”

e “When given the opportunity to explore and engage in our limited diversity most of the town embraces it especially on a
neighborhood level.”

3 All quotations included from surveys were copied directly as they were written by survey respondents with any spelling or
grammar issues that may have existed.
19



e  “Feel that most people | know in Bolton respect all people regardless of background, genuinely care and are willing to lend a
helping hand when necessary.”

Bolton Schools and Town Services as strengths

Another good number (18) of responses were focused on how the school system and some town services are strengths
for Bolton. Some of the comments simply mention the services/ schools while others were more detailed in drawing the
linkage to DEI.

e “The library, recreation, senior center and social services department do a good job with respect to equity and inclusion.”

e “The school system works hard to educate and integrate across all backgrounds and can be a safe place for students of
different backgrounds.”

e “Mly children went through the school system, and | believe that students with diverse backgrounds were treated fairly and
with respect. There is a significant amount of volunteer opportunities to join boards, such as a new group focused on
diversity. Also, The Bolton Women's Club, along with children's scouting and sports opportunities have been inclusive.”

Unable to identify any strengths
Fourteen (14) respondents were unable to come up with any strengths that Bolton has related to DEI. A few respondents
indicated being “unsure” about strengths which could indicate a negative attitude towards Bolton performance around DEI or
could indicate a lack of familiarity presenting them from identifying strengths. Other respondents were more clearly intended
as an indictment of Bolton as it relates to DEI.

e “None, there is no diversity, equity, or inclusion in the town”

e “Unfortunately | don't see any strengths in this area and have personal experiences to back up my feelings”

e “Nothing honestly. They've tried recently but it feels forced and not genuine.”

The Commission, this survey and the BLM Protest as strengths
On the opposite side of the spectrum, about an equal number of participants, eleven (11), identified the Commission, survey
and such actions like the BLM protest as steps in the right direction.

e “This survey is promising in that it is bringing these issues to light and hopefully start conversations about how to make
Bolton a better place to live and work for all minorities.”

e  “The Town saw fit to create a Diversity Commission. It does seem like racial/ethnic diversity is growing in town and we have
more diversity than some of our other rural neighboring towns.”

e  “Hosted a bim rally in spring 2020, making a DEI committee”

e “Willingness to improve, this survey speaks for itself and current town leadership.”

Bolton’s lack of attention to DEI as a strength
Nine (9) of the responses fell into this category. These responses indicated that it is harmful and divisive to focus on
elements of diversity, equity and inclusion. A few examples of these responses are below:

o “I'think this survey, and the time our representatives are spending on these non-issues, are a complete waste of time.”

e  “That we don't propagate the evils of DEI. That we don't subscribe to the racist, hateful, and the devisivess of CRT. That we
believe in strong family values.”

e “Bolton is welcoming to all people. | feel that this commission is creating (or helping) racial feelings.”

e  “The biggest strengths are we do not judge people on their skin color, sex, orientation or other discriminatory labels as this
survey suggests should be done.”

An inability to identify strengths because of the lack of Diversity in Bolton
A handful of respondents, similar to the above, didn’t identify strengths but rather drew attention to what they feel is Bolton’s
lack of diversity.

e “The town is exceptionally non-diverse, though | don’t know if it is intentionally this way or just inertia.”
“Diversity and equity are not attributes | readily identified with the town after moving here. The lack of diversity seems to

20



have been a factor in choosing to live here for some of the people | have met. For families with a child or children with
disabilities, under current school administration, there seems to have been an outsized focus on minimizing costs. Equity?”

e “Bolton strength is keeping itself segregating from anyone who isn't cis gendered, heterosexual, and white.” [Interpreted as
sarcasm]

Question 10 - Challenges

Respondents were asked to “Please describe a couple of Bolton's challenges with respect to diversity, equity, or
inclusion.” About 60%, or 109, participants provided a response to this question. Eight (8) themes were identified
amongst these responses.

Prejudice/ Discrimination/ Intolerance
Just under a quarter of respondents spoke about a general feel of prejudice, discrimination, bias and intolerance that is felt
around town broadly, displayed on social media platforms or perceived to be held by certain people or departments.
e “Everybody on every committee from the school board the Townhall everywhere you go it’s all white people. And the racism
is rampant.”
e “I have heard racial slurs directed at my Muslim neighbors and was upset by this. | have heard of racism in the schools from
students toward other students.”
e  Prejudicial attitudes regarding age, race, religion, income status and political affiliation have been freely demonstrated in
municipal settings.
e “Many members of the town have conservative and traditional values that conflict with true diversity equity and inclusion.
There is little tolerance for political and social values that don’t match the norm. When people speak up in town around
issues related to racism or diversity, they are often ridiculed or insulted on social media.

Simply, we do not have nor explore ways to improve our town's diversity. | also believe there is a preconditioned adversity in
not doing so. Sadly, we have members in the community who have demonstrated aversion to it. If a person of color is seen
driving or even walking down our streets comments are made simply because someone thinks they do not belong.

Some community members think diversifying means bringing in lower income housing and crime which is the ultimate in
discrimination and not the reality. The implicit bias in our community is so disheartening.

Although we truly are a welcoming community when we come to know one another there is so much that neighbors and the
town need to learn - which should come from the BIPOC community not the white town managers. In addition, families of
color and of various backgrounds seeking to purchase a home do not see themselves as welcome or identified here and
ultimately decide to move to a community more welcoming which | can personally attest to after a friend decided to
purchase in Manchester rather than Bolton. In regards to inclusion, there a few people in our community to "include" due to
our lack of diversity so that word does not relate to Bolton currently.”

Lack of Diversity
Just under 20% of respondents (21) identify lack of diversity as a challenge Bolton faces as it relates to DEI. Some
respondents used this a jumping off point to make suggestions for improvements:

“More diverse leaders, teachers, fire fighters, etc would go a long way towards encouraging more diversity in Bolton.”
Others were not optimistic about the diversity or future of diversity in Bolton.

e “There is no sense of culture or diversity. What is Bolton’s identity? People don’t think of Bolton of being diverse. Why would
they? Bolton is white.”

o “The town is primarily white and | don’t feel it is very welcoming and appealing to other groups.”

o  “When we moved here one of the big turn offs for us were the diversity numbers in town. We loved the town, the house we
bought, the highly rated schools. But we were worried about raising our kids in a town that just doesn’t reflect the actual
diversity of the country.”

21



Lack of Affordability/ Affordable Housing
Just over 15% of respondents mentioned the cost of living/ housing/ lack of rentals as a challenge when it comes to Diversity
Equity and Inclusion.

“Affordable housing for lower income families to have the opportunity to move here, increase the diversity in the Town
office and school staffing”

“The cost of living and taxes have a huge impact on who lives here. There is also no jobs available in Bolton because Bolton
is not a business friendly town. It is nothing more than a bedroom community for people who work elsewhere.”
“Affordable housing for the disabled”

“There are few places for low income to rent and work. Those that offer apartments are very discriminating. It's not a very
friendly place for parents or single parents to rent.”

Aversion to change/ “old school” mentality

Ten (10), or 9%, of responses fell into a category in which they indicated that they feel many in Bolton see any change as
negative because they want to keep the town the way it has been or was. As such these respondents feel this mentality is a
barrier to DEI efforts in town.

“Older residents who have lived here for quite a while can be not as welcoming to new ideas around the town. It’s a very
well this is how we did it 40 years ago mentality at times.”

“Collectively strong resistance to change. People in town who speak and act like it is "their town" and others living here
don't matter as much. There is an undercurrent of bigotry with some people who live here.”

“If you weren't born or raised here, you are told you don't matter!”

“I see/hear a lot of "how it used to be" talk from the older longtime Bolton residents.”

“Comments focused on "not wanting to change our town" also create a hostile environment for someone from an
"oppressed minority" who may be looking to move to town, who will see that the town is not open to change, i.e. bringing in
people who are different.”

The DEI Commission/ DEI work as the challenge
Ten (10) participants provided a response that indicated that the efforts around DEI, including the commission and the
survey, were unwelcome and part of the problem.

“Shove this PC crap that the dems/progressives R shoving down our throats & let me live in peace, | earned all of what | have
& I will not pander nor cater to the perpetually aggrieved 13%”

“Any challenges in Bolton come from small and loud fringe elements parroting social media talking points that most people
do not care about, nor do they want their tax dollars addressing. Bolton has enough issues with lack of tax revenue and
businesses. Wasting time addressing non-existent equality issues is yet another way to waste our tax dollars.”

“Relating to your Commission! This Commission appears to have an agenda which doesn't benefit the citizens of Bolton! |
feel very sad to realize people on this commission dislike the town of Bolton so much.”

“I personally think we over compensate for many individuals with diversity | have seen many things at the school where the
good of one has outweighed the good of many with respect to diversity issues”

School failure to serve people with disabilities/differences as a challenge (9)
Nine (9) participants specifically mentioned the schools system and treatment towards students or parents with
disabilities or who are perceived as different as being a challenge for Bolton.

“If your child is different in any way, you should move. Parents are not accepting of children with disabilities; they are
bullied relentlessly and the parents are shunned. I've applied in the past to board positions, no response. | don't feel
welcome in this town at all, and the only thing we participate in here is the land trust (they are welcoming).”

“now that my children are getting older I’m noticing the school system doesn’t necessarily operate based on what’s best for
students, but what they feel they want to deal with. They seem to sweep sexual harassment between students under the rug
quickly, and with little discipline for the offender. They push back on parents looking for student related services like 504
plans, for kids who have legitimate diagnosed disabilities. The more people | speak with, the more I’'m finding that the
district is more interested in pushing parents to not have a 504, but to just accept that the school will make
Accommodations for students on a more informal basis. | find this strange and concerning.”

“The entire town but especially the School System has HUGE issues in this department. Whether race issues or learning
disabilities or physical ailments. | have stacks of information and documents as well as personal accounts from not just
myself but other Bolton families to support my statements.”

22



Town Employees or Services as a challenge (5)

A smaller number of respondents, five (5), mentioned town employees and the town and school system as the
challenges to DEI. Responses indicated feelings of not being heard but did not speak specifically to the relationship
between their concerns and diversity, equity and inclusion.

e “The town and school system does not give much weight when it comes to residents concerns. The first time | have seen it
take the publics opinions seriously is when they opened up the school Covid mask policy, and it was a first step to listening to
your constituents.”

e “Some Town employees, including some teachers and school administrators, and some residents can be very cliquey. Many
town employees are downright rude and seem easily overwhelmed and bothered if they have to speak to someone or
explain something. Town employees generally not polite or overly helpful either. Same is true of many elected officials. If a
resident is not part of the ‘clique’ they can be ignored or minimized by other residents, town and school employees.”

No challenges identified
Another small group of five (5) participants indicated that they could not think of any challenges that Bolton had with
respect to DEl. Most were brief with the longest being as follows:

“I do not see any challenges. People of different diversity or equity have all of the same rights and access as everyone else.”

Question 11 — Negative Experiences

Respondents were asked to “If you have ever experienced any of the following in the Town of Bolton we invite you to
please share information about your experience: 1) barriers to fully participating in the Bolton community, 2) personally
felt you were not valued based on one or more of your identities, 3) experienced or witnessed an incident of hostility or
discrimination.” About 35%, or 63, participants provided a response to this question. Six (6) themes were identified
among these responses.

No Negative Experiences

Just over a quarter (17) respondents indicated that they have not had a negative experience in Bolton based on how
they identify. Most responses were brief “no” or “nope.” Other responses expressed more of an attitude of shock at the
question:

e “No! I have experienced non! if you feel that BOlton is so bad, why are you still here!”
e  “No! Never!”

While other responses indicated a gratitude for the fact that they hadn't:
e “Thankfully, no experiences.”

Experiences of broad and specific discrimination or differential treatment
Just over 20% of participants, 14, indicated having experienced or witnessed discrimination or mistreatment in Bolton as
a result of their or someone else’s identities, or the experience of “bullying.” Such responses included:

e “I have been regularly called a dyke by town residents. | have also been called a whore, a bitch, a cunt, a faggot, and many
other slurs.”

e “Unfortunately all three. Being Jewish, gay and having mixed kids we’ve seen it all, from a young age to adulthood.”

e “I'no longer live in bolton but i grew up there and went to Bolton public schools until the age of 18. | constantly was made
fun of for being a larger latina and also being adopted, and was always the source of blame for disruptions in class even
when it wasnt me. | am now 30 years old and | still deal with the traumas of hating my identity, and have done immense
personal work on unlearning and decolonizing my indoctrinated mindset.”

e “While once a member on one of the town boards and discussing town development, another member made a statement of
keeping "those people" out of our town. Since all participants were white, | assumed that he must have assumed everyone
else shared his position. While there are many people here that are welcoming to other people regardless of differences, in
my many years living here | have seen enough others who would concur with this man.”

23



Negative experiences with town services or participation in town

Six (6) responses were grouped together as being related to access to participation in town services and town decision
making. These respondents did not mention specific identities but rather indicated that they felt barriers existed to
inclusive participation within the town.

“The school administration and board of education create barriers to exclude diversity of thought. Board of education
meeting dates are not publicized, community input is obliged only as a formality.”

“Town staff, with very few exceptions, treat residents rudely, and get away with it. There is not a welcome feel, but a
judgmental one.”

“I try to buy a business in town and the zoning elect men told me as soon as | got it I'll have to fix and update many things on
the construction making the business out of my budget. | saw other people (white skin) getting the place and never did any
of those updates (like septic system).”

Negative experience related to a disability
As with the prior question, a small number (5) of respondents opted to share very specific experiences they have had
with town services where they were discriminated against or mistreated based on some type of disability.

“We are a family with same sex parents. Even question 5 of this survey ignored this experience. School activities and town
rec activities have been spaces for discriminatory comments- very regularly. Our child with emotional disabilities went
through a horrific experience because of those identities.”

“...when my oldest child was in 2nd grade and called the "N" word all the way through school...”

“I live with a disability and there are often handicap accessibility issues. Lack of accessible parking, building acess etc. | am
made to call ahead and make special plans instead of just being able to go to a early exessible building. | couldn't wear a
mask because of my disability and | was told | couldn't access town hall without one.”

“A state trooper once threatened to put my 11 year old son (who is Latino) in handcuffs. My son was in crisis and needed
transport to the hospital via ambulance. He was afraid and covering his head with his shirt which prompted the threat from
the state trooper. When | explained to the trooper that my son has PTSD from past experiences with police, he sternly
replied ‘well that wasn’t me!””

Negative experiences related to social media

There were five (5) respondents who echoed negative sentiments from prior questions related to social media. While
they do not speak to specific incidents of discrimination or mistreatment, they do indicate a sense that some of the
people that use some of the social media platforms are “not kind” and contain “hostility and vitriol” which serves as a
poor reflection on the town.

“If the bolton FB groups existed before | moved to this town, | probably would have reconsidered. Especially the” absolutely
everything Bolton” group. It’s full of a bunch of rude, whining, so called adults, insulting anyone and everyone who doesn’t
agree with them on every issue. | understand this is a bigger societal issue with social media in general, but it sometimes
feels like much of boltons direction is decided by angry residents on FB. Lots of hostility and discrimination towards other
residents happening in that group.”

“Lately the Absolutely Everything Bolton page has become more and more hostile to anyone who doesn't agree with the
moderator and a few others. Anyone who does speak up gets ridiculed and put down. We need a neutral place to go and
talk with each other without fearing an attack by other residents.”

Other forms of discrimination

There were other participants, four or fewer in each group, who identified feeling discriminated against based on
another identity. These included political ideology, and spiritual identity. While others mentioned that they did not want
to respond, or choose not to identify themselves as belonging to one group or another in public for fear of retaliation.

Question 12 — Positive Experiences

Respondents were asked to “We invite you to please share any positive/uplifting experiences you have had in Bolton
related to diversity, equity and inclusion.” Just under 30% or 53, participants provided a response to this question. Four
(4) generalized categories of responses were identified.

24



Bolton is a welcoming community

Reminiscent of responses to a prior question, a strong majority of the answers to this question (28% or 20) were related
to Bolton, its services and its residents being generally welcoming. Several of the responses specifically mention the
school system:

e “My 6th grader just told me about a classmate who just came out as transgender and it was like a non-issue!”
e “My partner and | have always felt accepted and welcome by the school community”

While others were positively mentioned events or groups throughout the town such as the “Memorial Day, Veterans
Day and Family Day Activities.” And “Library book group.”

Still others were more specific about feeling welcomed, while identifying with a population that would be considered
minority or marginalized:

e “family members with differing mental abilities have been welcomed and included in many activities”

e “l have see both Parks and Rec and Bolton Soccer Club work to make sure that income is not a barrier to children’s
participation in their activities and provide funding for those who cannot otherwise afford to participate.”

e “We just moved to Bolton from new Britain as a mixed family, half Latinx and felt very welcomed”

No positive experiences

Thirteen (13) participants chose to respond to the question but indicated they had no positive experiences related to DEI
in Bolton. As with prior questions with this type of response many were short “None” or “I can’t think of any” but a
couple appear to indicate that their negative experiences have clearly overshadowed anything that might be considered
positive on this topic:

e “The day our last child graduated from Bolton Public Schools was uplifting.”
e “In 40 years living here I've never experienced any”

Diversity Commission, Survey and Black Lives Matter protest as positive experiences
Some respondents (7) indicated that the work of the commission and the BLM protest in 2020 were demonstrating a
move towards having positive experiences.

e “The BML Rally on the green was a great demonstration of people in Bolton standing up for what is right. Unfortunately is
just figurative and the hard part is figuring out what can be done to actually improve things. There are generally nice people
in town and | have been able to interact with people from diverse backgrounds by getting involved in town activities despite
not having children in the school system and COVID largely shutting things down.”

e “Black lives matters protest and some neighbors posting signs around inclusion made me feel less alone.”

e  “The Black Lives Matter event in 2020 at the gazebo was one the most powerful, uplifting and insightful experiences | had
regarding diversity/equity/inclusion in Bolton. So many voices never heard and so many experiences never shared were
given light. These should be our leaders in guiding Bolton to understanding the equity and inclusion disparity. | also look to
our trails system which is slowly gaining in diversity.”

A negative opinion towards this work and the survey
A small group of five (5) respondents used this questions to share their negative opinion of DEI work and the survey
itself.

e “Idon't see why the town, school, or town government would feel the need to solely reach out to just a select group of
individuals because of their diversity. Everyone is afforded the same exact things in this town regardless of their diversity
status.”

e “None, | do not base my experiences on skin color, sex, orientation or other discriminatory labels as this survey suggests
should be done.”

Question 13- Suggestions for Improvements
The final narrative questions invited respondents to “please provide suggestions you may have for how Bolton can be a
stronger, more inclusive community and/or to provide a more welcoming environment for people of all backgrounds.”

25



Just under 38%, or 69, participants provided a response to this question. Five (5) generalized categories of responses
were identified.

Suggestions related to town services

The largest category of responses, from 17 participants, were focused on board and specific improvements the town
could make to create a more welcoming community for all.

About a quarter of these responses were focused on increasing the diversity of town and school personnel such as: “Hire
teachers whom are non-white. Include non heteronormative sex education to students. Teach LGBTQIA+ history in school.”

Five of the responses specifically mentioned the cost of living and affordable housing such as “Get more apartments low
income housing” or “Build low income housing” or “Lower our taxes so folks in the medium income can afford to buy here.”

Other responses were focused on how aspects of diversity could be incorporated thoughtfully and deliberately:

e “Diversity needs to be included in all aspects of town government, especially in discussions of future growth in terms of
housing, transportation, employment as well as school curriculums. Since we have limited diversity within the town,
opportunities to expand awareness via guest lecturers, presentations, programs, school field trips and participation in events
in other towns, educational programs, competitions etc. should be considered and built into both town and school budgets.”

e  “Looking at, assessing, and better understanding of the resources and services that people of non-white middle/upper
middle class professionals might want or need within their community (for example transportation needs for children or
parents outside of school, flexible childcare, housing opportunities outside of standalone homes or better affordability for
standalone homes, healthcare needs, job starter programs, etc).”

Two participants provide very specific tangible steps that the town could take to be more welcoming and inclusive which
bear consideration:

e “As a mom with an infant, it would be more inclusive to have a baby changing table in community spaces such as the Bolton
library restroom. Totally understand if there is no space though! :)”
e  “Gender neutral bathrooms”

More opportunities for engagement and socializing together
Just over 20% (14) of responses fell in to a category that indicated a desire to see more opportunities to meet and build
relationships with our neighbors in Bolton. These ranged from suggestions focused on DEI:

e “Maybe concerts or events that celebrate diverse music, culture, ideas...” or

e “Schedule monthly web diversity meetings with each group i.e. LGBTQ, Veterans, etc. and invite guest speakers”

To broader ideas with the goal of just bringing people together such as:

e  “casual gathering activities - town green concerts with specific attention to inviting out of towners, specific target groups”
and

e “We need a safe place to gather, have a coffee and meet each other. The only way to get a more welcoming environment is
to get to know more that just our few near neighbors.”

Most of these responses seemed to suggest that if only we had the opportunity to get to know each other (in person)
we might be able to overcome some of the differences and the gaps between us. However, one respondent after
suggesting a safe place to discuss DEI ended by saying “However, | am frankly worried about retribution in this town for
those of us who speak up.”

Call out Prejudice and Systemic Oppressions
A smaller number of responses (8) were focused on naming and calling out prejudices that exist in the community and
seemed to indicate that we cannot move forward without first confronting the issue.

e “Far too many people in Town do not acknowledge that systemic and institutionalized racism exists. They view it as purely
interpersonal prejudice and therefore feel that being "colorblind" and "treating others as | would like to be treated" is a

26



sufficient remedy to racism when it is not. The same can be said of the other forms of oppression, sexism, heterosexism, etc.
Statements such as these devalue, and delegitimize the experiences of people who identify with an oppressed minority.
These kinds of microaggressions, and others, should be called out and used as teachable moments when they occur and
should not be acceptable.”"

“White people need to do more work. Do more reading and learning about the histories of systemic racism and how the
entire town benefits from it. White people need to stop centering the issues around their feelings and learn what being
inclusive truly is.”

“Call out racist, derogatory, unaccepting, hurtful behaviors without exception, and without bias.”

Stop the Diversity Commission and focusing on DEI

As with the other narrative questions a small group of individuals (7) expressed an opinion that focusing on identities
does more harm than good and is somehow incongruent with small town life. Similarly there seems to be a belief that to
suggest Bolton may have issues with Diversity, Equity and Inclusion is to say that Bolton is “bad” in some way.

“Stop focusing on sexual identity, orientation, gender, and race and let people live their lives the way they see fit. There isn't
much appeal to a small rural town if we decide to act like these issues are a major element of Bolton life.”

“I don't believe that the town should spend time and resources on this activity. If people want to move to and live in Bolton,
then they can at their own choice. We shouldn't have to have a committee that encourages special treatment just because
someone has a diverse status.”

“l feel that Bolton is fine - very upsetting questions. Very negative”

Other smaller themes

Other themes arose that had fewer responses. These included 1) those who had no suggestions for improvements, 2)
those who felt having the Diversity Commission was a way to make the town more welcoming and 3) those who seemed
to have a fatalistic approach identifying the problem but with no solutions such as:

“I don't know where to start. The problem is systemic; it has been here for at least 30 years (since | moved here). The
people here have been taught that to live here is to be 'special’. Problem is it is ingrained in the parents, and taught to the
children by the parents. It appears that students are accepting of LGBTQ+ folks, but special ed children are still vilified and
mistreated by parents, teachers, and students.”

27



Analysis by Group Identifiers

An analysis was conducted comparing the responses of those who identified with one or more of the groups/factors
outlined in the Survey Analysis section above, to the responses of the overall respondent pool. This involved calculating
the Average Ratings and the Favorability Percentages for each question by population (i.e. those that identified as 65+,
or female, etc. and comparing it to the Average Ratings and Favorability Percentages of the overall respondent pool.
Each population analyzed had a different number of respondents (n) who identified with that population as outlined in
the table below. Generally speaking, the larger the “n,” the more valid the results, meaning that they are more likely to
represent the feelings and/or experiences of people that identify with that subpopulation as a whole. The Commission
looked for populations with larger differences in Average Ratings and Favorability Percentages, in either direction, as
these suggest a greater divergence from the attitudes of the overall respondent pool. This analysis is impacted by the

underlying assumptions of the survey which include self-selection bias of respondents as well as the groups that are
over-represented amongst survey responses compared to Bolton, CT’s general population as outlined in the

Demographics results section above.

Population Identifier “n” Total Number of Individuals in the Population
BIPOC 29
White (Non-Hispanic / Non-Latin(o)(a)(x)) 138
Individuals with Disabilities / Differing Ability Levels 28
Minority Gender Identity 5
Female Gender Identity 111
Male Gender Identity 54
Minority Sexual Orientation 28
No Post-Secondary Education 9
Other than English Language Preference 5
Foreign- Born 12
Household Estimated Income Below 50% AMI 12
Age 65+ 37
Participation in the Military 14
Left- Leaning Ideology 69
Right-Leaning Ideology 27
Moderate Ideology 55
Non-Christian Religion 11
Bolton Affiliation (Non-current Resident) 20

Where populations had Average Ratings and Favorability Percentages that were not that far from the overall respondent
pool, The Commission interpreted these populations as having views that largely aligned with the overall respondent
pool. Populations with higher Average Ratings and/or higher Favorability Percentages on questions had more positive
attitudes to questions than the overall respondent pool. Populations with lower Average Ratings and/or lower
Favorability Percentages had more negative attitudes than the overall respondent pool.

28



Below is a graph that shows the average deviation of the Average Rating for each question by subpopulation from the
Average Rating of the overall respondent pool. As a very broad general statement, those populations with Positive
deviation from the average respondent responded more favorably to questions and those with Negative deviation from
the average response, had less favorable views than the average respondent.

Deviation of Average Rating by Population from the Average Respondent

-0.76 0.77

0.13 1l
-0.25 m f— 0.02 mmm
= -0.08 .04

= c > wn = c c > Q o + > > > > c >
& to v o &= 'z Ln = ao = = = ao
g g & &£ 2 £ g € 92 T 8 ©® & £ & & . 8
° = ° = o © ] @ o Q (] @ o] @ = ©@ ] o
5 = 9 = 2 s} 3z 0 8o - 7} - ‘ 0 <
& = z 3 Q 3 = = T < 2 e = = = ® ]
S £ w oA 2 = 8 5 < 5 ¢ 5 2 8 3 w
e 8 = 2 O > o] [¢] ° o = = o £ <
@ B ‘c = =) —_ = c zZ c o c c o c
= = o k= 7] o] g 1) - @ o < £ [ 8 S
2 = w 2 (53] = e (G @ G - (G c = Q
g 7 oz @ 3 & s £ s & oz & £ 2

@ © = oo
s 5§ ¥ 5 § =z & B = g 5 = 2§
= | o O = d = i =

= = e = 4 (] < =] [ o«

= = o 1] w s 2 &

© £ £ 5 2

[ =

< s P a

=

From left to right, aside from categories that were grouped for comparison’s sake, a more nuanced analysis of these
populations are detailed below.

Non-Christian Religious Affiliation (n=11)

There were 11 respondents who identified with a religion that is not a mainstream Christian religion. This group
reported markedly less favorable responses to most questions with an average Rating that was .76 less than the average
respondents. This large deviation from the average rating was consistent across all of the questions. Of particular notice
is the incredibly low Favorability Percentages for this population. For questions that are assessing the town (and not the
respondent) the highest Favorability Percentage is 30% with an average of 10% favorability and nine of the sub
questions in the survey receiving a 0% Favorability Percentage- meaning that none of the 11 respondents chose a
favorable response to those questions. Just under 64% of these individuals reported experiencing discrimination in
Bolton in the last five (5) years based on their religion. This is the highest rate of discrimination out of any of the sub-
populations assessed in this survey.

Non-Current Residents (n=20)

Those respondents who identified as prior residents, prior students, or prior/current employees who are not residents
had significantly less favorable attitudes than the average respondent for all questions asked. It is likely the self-selection
bias played a significant role in the negative responses for this population, as those who chose to respond to the survey
likely had “something to say.” However, as the goal is to be welcoming to all, these perspectives are important for the

29



Town of Bolton to understand as it may provide insight into why some families ultimately opt to leave Bolton. Of these
20 individuals, five (5) identify as having a minority Sexual Orientation, six (6) would be categorized as BIPOC, two (2)
have no post-secondary education, 12 identify as having left- leaning ideologies, two (2) identify as below 50% of the
AMI and seven (7) identify as having a disability.

The strongest negative attitudes are observed for the questions around the Bolton School System with Favorability
Percentages all 20% and below. This population also has a strong negative response to the experiential questions in
Question 6 related to being their authentic self, recommending the town, and feeling a sense of belonging in Bolton, as
well as having very poor opinions on how welcoming Bolton is to populations that would be considered “minority.” As
highlighted further below these respondents also felt that Bolton should have more diversity with an average desired
diversity level of 7.55 out of 9.

Individuals with Disabilities / Differing Ability Levels (n=28)

Individuals who identified as having a disability (having a physical, mental or emotional condition that impacts or shapes
their participation in work or society) appear to have a markedly more negative attitude about how the Town of Bolton
is performing overall with regard to DEl issues.

For questions 1-4 and all of their sub-questions, those with a disability had an Average Rating score of .52 less than the
average respondent with Favorability Percentages as low as 14% to a high of 41%. In particular, the negative attitude
increased for question three regarding the Bolton School System with the average rating at 1.85 compared to the overall
respondent pool’s score of 2.56. Similarly, all but one of the bullets in question 1 (rating Bolton overall) received average
scores of under 2 from respondents with a disability. Notably, six (6) of these 28 respondents also identify as being prior
residents or students in Bolton, who also demonstrate a largely negative attitude towards DEI topics in Bolton (as
highlighted further below). This negative opinion of Bolton as it relates to DEIl issues and feeling welcomed is further
illustrated in the responses to the narrative questions as previously outlined above.

Just under 54% of respondents with a disability indicated that they have personally experienced discrimination based on
having a different physical, intellectual, developmental, emotional, or behavioral ability in the past five (5) years. And
only 18% of respondents with a disability gave a favorable response to how well Bolton does with ensuring people with
differing abilities are welcomed in Bolton.

While self-selection bias likely played a role in which individuals with disabilities chose to respond to this survey, it
should be concerning that so many of these individuals have had such negative experiences / treatment in the Town of
Bolton.

Income Level (n=12)

Those reporting estimated household income of less than 50% of the area median income (n=12) responded less
favorably to all questions than the average respondent. The average difference in the Average Rating for this population
was .40 less than the average respondents, similar to those that identified with a Minority Sexual Orientation. The
largest deviation in Average Ratings for this population appears for the Town Government and School System questions.
As with the other minority sub-populations identified, deviations from the average are more significant for the
experiential questions in Question 6 related to being their authentic self, recommending the town, raising issues about
unfair treatment without fear of consequences and feeling a sense of belonging in Bolton. Less than 19% of individuals
with a household income below 50% of the AMI responded favorably to Bolton being welcoming to people who have
lower income levels.

Minority Sexual Orientation (n=28)

Individuals that where categorized as identifying with a minority sexual orientation saw a definite trend in the less
favorable direction for all survey questions when compared to the average respondent. While the trend toward the
negative was not quite as large as it was for those with disabilities, the average difference in the Average Rating for this
population was .38 less than the average respondents. The most marked differences between this population and the
average respondent are for the School System questions and Law Enforcement questions, though around 50% of this

30



population responded to the law enforcement questions, suggesting those that responded may have had a selection
bias towards answering those specific questions.

Similar to the BIPOC population and those with Disabilities, those with a Minority Sexual Orientation responded less
favorably to the experiential questions around being their authentic self, recommending the town, raising issues about
unfair treatment without fear of consequences and feeling a sense of belonging in Bolton. 48% of respondents in this
category indicated an experience of discrimination based on sexual orientation in Bolton in the last five (5) years.

Education Level (n=9)

Respondents who reported having No Post-Secondary Education (n=9) tended to respond less favorably to most
guestions. Once again, this was particularly true for the experiential questions in Question 6 related to being their
authentic self, recommending the town, raising issues about unfair treatment without fear of consequences and feeling
a sense of belonging in Bolton.

Though only 3-4 of these nine respondents chose to answer the two questions around the provision of translated
materials by the Town and the School System, these individuals responded much less favorably to these two questions
than the average respondent with differences of -.78 and -.93 on the Average Rating and differences of -16% and -25%
on the Favorability Percentages respectively, when compared to the average respondent. None of these 3 -4
respondents identify as having a language preference other than English. Though purely speculative, this may suggest
that reading level of materials may be as important as the language in which materials are written.

BIPOC (n=29)

Respondents who fit into the BIPOC population had responses that did not greatly diverge from the overall respondent
pool, or respondents who identified as White —Non Hispanic for questions related to overall rating of Bolton, Town
Government, Law Enforcement and the School System. Average ratings on these questions did lean slightly more
negative than the overall response pool for the majority of these questions ranging from .04 to .21 less in their Average
Rating than the overall response pool. Notably however, BIPOC individuals rated the following questions more favorably
than the average respondent

1) Attracting people from diverse backgrounds to live, work or own businesses in Bolton
2) Providing equal access to housing for residents of all backgrounds
3) Creating awareness of Bolton's diversity

The BIPOC community saw a larger negative divergence from the average score for the following questions, though they
remain largely favorable overall. On the other hand, White Non-Hispanic individuals scored more positively than the
average respondent.

Average respondent BIPOC White, Non-Hispanic
I can be my full, authentic self in 3.49 & 71% favorable 3.18 & 61% favorable | 3.53 & 74% favorable
Bolton.
I am likely to recommend living in 3.49 %&72% favorable | 2.93 & 48% favorable | 3.60 & 79% favorable
Bolton to a friend or family member
who asks
| feel a sense of belonging in Bolton. 3.42 & 69% favorable 2.97 & 52% favorable | 3.51 and 73% favorable

Also 53% of BIPOC respondents indicated that they have personally experienced discrimination based on Race in the
past five (5) years.

This suggests that while BIPOC respondents had overall positive feelings towards Bolton, there is still room for
improvement when it comes to inclusivity of BIPOC individuals in our town.

31



Aged 65 and Older (n=37)

Individuals who identified as being 65 years of age or older tended to have responses that mostly aligned with the
average respondent. Differences between the Average Rating for older adults compared to the general response pool
tended to be .2 or less and swung in both less (overall town, Town Government and Law Enforcement) and more
favorable (school system and experiential questions) directions. Just over 16% of older adult respondents indicated
being discriminated against based on age in the last five (5) years in Bolton and 78% indicated a favorable response to
older people being welcomed in Bolton. This suggests that Bolton may be doing well in terms of serving and treatment
of older adults in our community.

Gender Identity

While the number of respondents who identified with a Minority Gender Identity (n=5) was small, the general response
from this population leaned more positive than the average survey respondent, except as it related to questions around
Law Enforcement.

60% of respondents in this category responded favorably to Bolton being welcoming to people who identify as
transgender, non-binary or gender non- conforming and less than half, or 40%, of the respondents indicting having
experienced discrimination in Bolton based on their gender identity.

The 111 Female respondents skewed slightly more negatively in their responses than the average respondent while the
54 Male respondents skewed slightly more positively in their attitudes for most questions with almost equal differences
from the average in either direction. Nine (9) or just under 9% of female respondents indicated being discriminated
against based on gender identity compared to one (1) or just under 2% of Male respondents. Both populations felt
overwhelmingly welcomed in Bolton.

Military Participation (n=14)

Those who were categorized as having some form of military participation tended to rate Bolton more positively on
almost all of the questions compared to the average respondent. The average difference in the Average Rating for this
population was .32 more than the average respondents. 75% of those with Military Participation responded favorably
to Veterans or Military Personnel being welcomed in Bolton.

Foreign Born (n=12)

Aside from the questions related specifically to Law Enforcement, respondents who identified as Foreign-Born had an
Average Rating markedly more favorable than the average respondent. While the responses for Law Enforcement were
less favorable than the average, two of the three questions still received a 56% Favorability Percentage. While not
synonymous with being born-outside of the country, of these respondents, 67% indicated a favorable response to
Bolton being welcome to individuals who are not U.S. Citizens and less than half, or 33% of this respondents reported
being discriminated on in Bolton in the last five (5) years based on their National Origin

Other than English Preference (n=5)

Individuals who responded that English is not their first/ preferred language responded more favorably to all questions
than the average respondent. While only four of them responded to the translation of materials on the Town website
and departments and only one responded to the translation of materials for the School System, the Favorability
Percentages were 75% and 100% respectively. Of the four respondents who answered about how welcoming Bolton is
to people whose first language is not English, 100% had a favorable response.

Political Ideology

As indicated by the Average Rating Chart above and the Diversity Level Chart below, the Political Ideology of a
respondent had a strong impact on how far from the average response someone might be - with Right-leaning
individuals tending to respond much more favorably than the average, left-leaning individuals tending to respond much
less favorably than the average and with moderate individuals trending much more to the middle of the group, though
slightly more favorably than the average respondent. While this survey does not assess for correlation, these results may
suggest that Political Ideology is one of the most predictive factors in Bolton for how people feel about and experience

32



issues related to Diversity, Equity and Inclusion regardless of their other identities. This potential finding has an impact
on suggestions for how to improve the current climate around DEI in Bolton moving forward.

Right-leaning individuals had Favorability Percentages of over 70% for all questions about the Town while left-leaning
individuals had Favorability Percentages below 40% for all questions. While these two populations do differ greatly from
the average around the experiential questions under Question 6 related to being their authentic self, recommending the
town, and feeling a sense of belonging in Bolton, they do not have the greatest variance from the average ratings
compared to other populations. This suggests that while people’s attitudes and thoughts are largely impacted by their
political ideologies, the actual experiences of people in town may be impacted more by their other identities and less by
their ideologies.

Desired Diversity Level by Population

The Commission also looked at the Desired Diversity Level by Population compared to each other and to the overall
average response of 6.8. Recall the options for this question were on a scale of 1-9 with (1) being much less, (9) being
much more and (5) being Bolton's diversity level is perfect just as it is. Of note is that only one population, those with a
right leaning ideology, thought the town should have slightly less diversity than it currently has. All other populations
analyzed felt that Bolton would be better with increased diversity.

Avg Desired Diversity Level By Population

7.85
61 6125 °° | | | | | |
& N

O R, NWRAULIOON XL

S
oY D : . c, N X9 X9
o\o RS é’\& . \\{@ %o &\ é‘\& o\o Q)\Q eb (\6@ éo (Jo e(‘\\, . ®® J\& (SQ ,\\@ (}o
SIS NN S N N N4 P DR R Y A NS
AN A VO IS NS K & Q2 & & & & &
& x S SR S 8 2 P & ¥ ¥ O O @ &
AP A SR N N S AT AP SN > &S
& ¥ ~\® X & L F & 0:2\ & L & &S
N o RN ) rz’}'\ o > > ¥ éo O > ,b\{” NG . \\6 N it
S X & KR i) N} v N o <& S & L Q N2
<« & @ O Q 0’\’ ‘(\{\, ("(\ © \\\\6 (\V o
> N
RS ] o N @ S
Findings

In looking at the results of the survey and the above analysis as detailed above several themes emerged that are worth
elevating and that were utilized to inform the Committee Recommendations below.

Respondents were torn about whether Bolton is welcoming

Many respondents indicated that Bolton is welcoming or may not quite be there but is desirous of being welcoming. This
was echoed as a theme throughout many of the narrative responses and around 50% of respondents rated “making all
residents feel welcome” and “creating a community welcoming to residents of all backgrounds” favorably. There were
comments that indicated that whatever the perception may be of the town at large, that on a micro level with neighbors
and friends, people were kind and welcoming and willing to help each other when it matters.

However, there were some specific groups of respondents that had very low Favorability Percentages, in the 20s and
30s, to these same two questions including those with disabilities, those that identify with a minority sexual orientation,

33



those with lower incomes, with no post-secondary education, non-current residents, those with non-Christian religions,
and those with left-leaning ideologies.

This suggests that if Bolton is to truly be a town that is welcoming to all, there is work to be done.

Some people feel that diversity, equity and inclusion efforts are unnecessary and unwelcome in Bolton

Across most of the narrative responses there was the small, but strong voice throughout the survey expressing the ideas
that there is no need to “change” Bolton and that diversity, equity and inclusion efforts create division rather than
solving issues that might exist. This group indicated that they believe the recent DEI efforts are promoting and ideology
that something is “wrong” with Bolton and that those who are proponents of such efforts do not like Bolton.

Those with Non- Christian religions rated Bolton unfavorably

In terms of a protected classes that demonstrated a strong negative response to the survey, those with Non- Christian
Religions stand out. In addition to Non- Residents and Left Leaning individuals. this group had Average Ratings and
Favorability Ratings that were the furthest from the average respondent in the negative direction. Due to the
consistency of this negative response across all questions, and how far they diverged from the average respondent, the
Commission felt that it should be elevated as a finding in the survey that might warrant further exploration. There were
limited comments in the narrative questions specifically addressing the topic of religion and therefore there is little to
help us understand what contributed to the poor ratings from individuals in this subgroup.

Sense of mistreatment for people with disabilities

The idea that those with disabilities have experienced forms of discrimination and mistreatment arose both as a theme
in the narrative questions but also bore out in how much lower on average the Favorability Percentages and Average
Rating Scores was for those who identified with having disabilities. While other sub-populations also had scores that
rated Bolton more negatively than the average respondent (left leaning individuals, those with non-Christian relations
and non-residents) very few narrative responses about specific experiences were related to these group identities. More
than half of respondents with a disability reported an experience of discrimination based on their disability in Bolton
within the last five years.

When it comes to those with disabilities, Bolton has a legal obligation to ensure it is open, accessible and
accommodating to the needs of these individuals. The American’s with Disabilities Act prohibits discrimination on the
basis of disability in employment, government, public spaces, commercial entities, transportation and
telecommunications. The individuals with Disabilities Education Act “requires public schools to make available to all
eligible children with disabilities a free appropriate public education in the least restrictive environment appropriate to
their individual needs.”* In addition to the moral reasons why it is important to Bolton be welcoming to those with
disabilities, to protect the town from the liability that comes from not meeting these requirements, Bolton may want to
make improvements as it relates to residents and students with disabilities.

Reduced Sense of Belonging among Minority Populations in Bolton

While not all minority populations analyzed had Favorability Percentages and Average Rating Scores that diverged
greatly from the average respondents for most questions on the survey, minority groups DID diverge more significantly
from the average respondent as it related to the experience questions that were part of Question 6. These questions
included:

e | can be my full, authentic self in Bolton
e | am likely to recommend living in Bolton to a friend or family member who asks
e | can raise issues about unfair treatment without fear of consequences

4 A Guide to Disability Rights Laws: https://www.ada.gov/cguide.htm#anchor65310

34


https://www.ada.gov/cguide.htm#anchor65310

o | feel a sense of belonging in Bolton.

Individuals who were categorized as one of the following sub-populations: from lower income households, BIPOC,
Minority Sexual Orientation, Minority Gender, without Post-Secondary Education, and Non-Christian but religious, had
lower Favorability Percentages and Average Rating scores for these questions, even when they had more positive
responses to other questions or had even more negative responses to these questions than other questions. While not
true across all minority populations, this trend may suggest that regardless of their perceptions about how welcoming
Bolton is or tries to be, that on some level those who identify with the above mentioned minority groups, do not quite
feel as welcomed, or as much a part of the community as those in the majority may.

Difference in Rating From Avg Respondent

Non-

Sexual No Post Christian

BIPOC Disability |Orientation|2nd Edu. |Low Income| Religion
Avg Rating Q 1-5 -0.07 -0.56 -0.41 -0.21 -0.34 -0.85
Authentic Self -0.31 -0.79 -0.56 -0.71 -0.99 -1.22
Recommend Bolton |[-0.56 -0.6 -0.53 -0.38 -0.74 -0.58

Raise issues w/o fear |-0.18 -0.82 -0.25 -0.55 -1.1 -1.1

Sense of Beloning -0.45 -0.35 -0.42 -0.64 -0.5 -1.06

Affordability and Affordable Housing

The lack of affordable housing is a theme that arose in multiple places throughout the survey. The Average Rating for the
guestion “Please rate Bolton on each of the following: Providing equal access to housing for residents of all
backgrounds” was 2.27 which falls into the negative range of Fair to Poor. The majority of the sub populations analyzed
also had Favorability Percentages for this questions below 50%, some well below 50%. It also arose as a theme in the
responses to Question 10, regarding challenges, and Question 13, regarding suggestions for improvements. The
argument is that lack of affordable housing, and/or combined with the high cost of living in Bolton through things like
high taxes, the need to own a car due to lack of public transportation, and proximity to basic needs like food, jobs and
healthcare close by, as well as the type of housing stock largely single family homes on larger properties, and zoning
laws means that we are making Bolton inaccessible to a large portion of the population.

Opportunities to Interact and to Celebrate Diversity

Another overarching theme that came through is that Bolton does not do enough of “Create awareness of Bolton’s
Diversity” or “Offering gathering places for diverse groups to get together.” These questions had Average Ratings of 2.08
and 2.04 respectively and Favorability Percentages of just over 32%. However “I frequently interact with people from
other backgrounds in Bolton” saw a larger percentage of individuals in agreement with the statement around 62%. This
suggests that at the micro level people may be engaging with diverse groups of people but that perhaps these
opportunities are not as easy to find as they could be or are not promoted at the Town level with a focus being given to
highlighting and celebrating the diversity groups.

There were varying opinions on whether or not Bolton is Diverse with some who felt it is and others who are adamant it
is not. However, the majority of respondents to the survey felt that Bolton needs more diversity, with an average rating
of 6.8 on a scale of 1-9, with five being we are perfect as we are. From a Racial Diversity perspective, Bolton’s Diversity
Index (the chance that two people chose at random will be of a different race) was 25% in 2020, up from 13% in 2010

35



but still below the State Diversity Index of 56%.> While we don’t define diversity by race alone, many do interpret the
word diversity in this manner. Therefore, for those living in town for extending periods of time this 12% increase in the
last 10 years could be contributing to their opinion that Bolton is diverse, and diverse enough, while the fact that we are
well below the state level, is likely contributing to the opinions of others who feel that there is a need for more. Either
way, it highlights the need to educate and inform the community about these facts and trends.

Additionally, respondents seemed to feel that interacting with others in Town, in person, and not on social media, would
improve the climate around diversity, equity and inclusion issues. This was mentioned in a variety of narrative responses
both in terms of identifying strengths of the town, “When given the opportunity to explore and engage in our limited
diversity most of the town embraces it especially on a neighborhood level” and when asked to provide suggestions for
improvement, 20% of responses fell into this category.

Commission Recommendations

The Bolton Diversity, Equity and Inclusion survey sought to identify the pulse in the community around the topic of DEI
and to determine if the town has any “diversity issues”. While the survey analysis did not allow for the identification of
statistically significant findings, it did provide some insight into some of the sentiments around diversity, equity and
inclusion as well as bringing light to some of the experiences survey respondents have had that have been impacted by
the ways in which they identify or are perceived by others. It did highlight that there are some segments of the Bolton
population that have not felt welcomed in Bolton and that some populations seem to feel less of a sense of “belonging”
in Bolton than others.

It was clear from the responses to the narrative questions, and some of the written “other” responses to the
demographic questions that not everyone in Bolton is on board with efforts undertaken by the Town and the
Commission to focus on Diversity, Equity and Inclusion in town. Some of these negative attitudes may stem from a lack
of understanding about why these issues are important to many Bolton residents. Some indicate feeling that to focus on
Diversity is to draw division between people when we might be better served by focusing on our commonalities.
However this “color blind” approach is dismissive and disrespectful to the experiences of people who identify with a
minority group who have suffered or experienced differential treatment as a result of their belonging to such a group, as
was clear from the analysis of this survey.

There is a perception that those on the Commission believe there are problems with Bolton and dislike the town, and
additional sentiments that diversity is somehow incongruent with the “small town” character of Bolton.

It is important for the Commission and the Town government to understand that some individuals in Bolton will never
be convinced that Diversity, Equity and Inclusion are important goals for the Town to pursue. There are, however,
others, who may be convinced of their importance by reading the responses to this survey from some of their friends
and neighbors or through some of the following suggested actions that can be taken by the Town.

Formal Proclamation by the Town

To solidify its commitment to being a Town that is welcoming to all and to combat the negative messages that are
circulated via social media platforms among other places, the Commission recommends that the Board of Selectmen
formally adopt a proclamation declaring a commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion as a community priority, see
Attachment D. While largely performative, in combination with the below actions, such a proclamation demonstrates to
current and potential future residents that the negative undercurrents do not represent the opinions and stance of the
broader Town which strives to be caring and inclusive.

Establish Permanent Commission

5 How Diverse is Connecticut? https://www.ctdata.org/blog/diversity-in-connecticut-is-increasing

36


https://www.ctdata.org/blog/diversity-in-connecticut-is-increasing

In order to monitor progress towards improving Bolton’s image as it relates to diversity, equity and inclusion, to elevate
any emerging issues that may arise, as well as to assist in the implementation of the below recommendation, the
Diversity Commission recommends that the Bolton Board of Selectman institute a permanent voluntary Human Rights
and Equity Commission. The Commission recommends that this permanent Commission be modeled off of the current
Commissions Charter but with more autonomy to act on its own while still serving to advise the Board of Selectmen. The
goal for the composition of this Human Rights and Equity Commission should be to recruit a diverse pool of volunteers
that represent the various minority and majority populations that reside in Bolton.

This Commission should be provided a line item in the Annual Budget in order to implement such recommendations as
outlined below that the Board of Selectman sets as goals to achieve.

Formal Training and Education

The Commission recommends that the Town invest in the provision of robust, diversity, equity and inclusion training on
no-less than a bi-annual basis for all Town Employees, elected officials and volunteers serving on a permanent Town
Committee or Commission. As the public face of the Town, it is important for all of these individuals to be aware of the
definitions and importance of diversity, equity and inclusion, and to act in accordance with morals imperatives outlined
in the above-mentioned and attached Proclamation. Such training will provide such employees, elected officials and
volunteers with the skillsets to respond appropriately when discriminatory and unacceptable behaviors or comments are
made in public settings to ensure that no one feels excluded due to their in-group identities. It will protect the Town
from liability and position the town to be more inclusive, hopefully encouraging more participation from residents in
many of these volunteer positions which at times are challenging to fill. The Human Rights and Equity Commission would
assist the Town in the development and solicitation for such a bi-annual curriculum. Such training topics might include:
defining diversity, equity and inclusion and their importance, unconscious bias, micro-aggressions, intentional inclusion,
bystander training, legal obligations and more, with a focus not on guilt and blame but on respecting the experiences of
all, especially marginalized populations whose voices are often minimalized.

Make Affordable Housing a Priority

The Commission recommends that the Town of Bolton needs to make increasing affordable housing in Bolton a priority.
To meet the requirements of Connecticut General Statutes, the Town of Bolton has created a Five-Year affordable
housing plan with the goal of increasing the number of deed-restricted affordable housing units in Town. Thus the
Diversity Commission recommends that the Town prioritizes monitoring the progress towards implementation of the
recommendations in the Affordable Housing Plan. This should be done by ensuring the plan is discussed at a minimum,
of twice annually by the Planning and Zoning Commission, and that educational forums are provided to Residents about
what is included in the plan, and what affordable housing means so that there is less resistance from town residents to
the development of affordable housing in town. This is something that the Permanent Human Rights and Equity
Commission could assist with. If Bolton, does not make an effort to increase affordable housing volitionally, the town
risks having outsiders come in to define what this looks like in our town. In addition to hopefully making Bolton more
accessible to diverse populations, the Affordable Housing Plan acknowledged that “Without new developments and with
an aging and declining tax base, it may become increasingly difficult to maintain current services and programs or
establish new initiatives with a stagnant tax base and declining population.” In order to maintain the way of life that
Bolton residents hold dear, while increasing affordability, the creation of affordable housing is a necessity and thus
should be a top priority for Bolton.

Improving Accessibility and Treatment of Individuals with Disabilities

The Commission recommends that due to the strong negative response from individuals with a disability to this survey,
that further action should be taken to further identify how Bolton is and is not meeting the needs of those in town living
with disabling conditions. This might include a full scale accessibility assessment of all Town buildings and properties to
ensure people with disabilities can partake in equal enjoyment, and the creation of a plan to make improvements
following the assessment. It might also include increased training on the needs of and how to respond to individuals

37



with disabilities, including but not limited to mental health first aid. Such a training could be part of the DEl training
suggested above. Continuation of and creating more awareness for the offerings of the Social Emotional Department
within the school system may also make improvements in the experience of those young persons with disabling
conditions living in Town.

Opportunities for Engagement

The Commission recommends that the town of Bolton offer more opportunities, formal and informal, to engage with
each other around the topics of Diversity Equity and inclusion. Such efforts could be spearheaded by the Human Rights
and Equity Commission and may include a book club focused on books written by authors of minority representations or
that cover topics related diversity, equity and inclusion. This would provide an intentional setting to discuss DElI where
the focus is on a book and people’s participation and the extent of their participation is completely voluntary and non-
threatening.

Other such efforts might include events at which Bolton residents have the opportunity to highlight and celebrate the
diversity that exits in Bolton and our surrounding communities such as a Juneteenth Celebration, honoring women’s
history month, Hispanic heritage month and others. These events can be standalone or more of an effort can be made
to incorporate cultural elements into long standing Bolton event such as Family Day, Winter Fest, the Summer Concert
Series and more.

In addition, Bolton should hold facilitated dialogues, at intervals focused on issues of diversity where residents have the
opportunity to interact with each other and get to know one another on an individual basis as opposed to just as
representatives of a group identity. Holding these conversations would serve several purposes. It would provide a safe
space to share experiences, positive and negative, in an environment that promotes respect, and understanding.
Simultaneously it would allow for a means to surface issues or challenges in the town in an ongoing way instead of
waiting for a survey, so that they can be addressed quickly in real time. It would also help create empathy and therefore
prevent or ameliorate hostility between residents who may identify differently and have varying experiences due to
these identities but who can come to an understanding based on their shared humanity.

Such above mentioned opportunities for increased engagement, education and dialogue would be the purview of the
Human Rights and Diversity Commission. Through open and regular dialogue residents of Bolton can come to
understand that by seeking to elevate and celebrate topics of diversity, equity and inclusion, the goal is not to critique
the town of Bolton but rather to come together to make it the best that it can be for everyone who currently lives here
and those that may choose to live here in the future.

38



Attachment A — Resolution

Resolution or the Creation of an
Ad Hoc Commission

On Diversity & Inclusion

Unanimonsly Adopted [amary 5, 2021

FEEEAEFRELT

Whereas a number of residents of the Town of Bolton have called for the creation of a
commission to address issues of diversity and inclusion; and

Whereas national events in 2020 brought issues of systemic racism and bigotry to the forefront
of the minds of all and was the cause of a demonstration in support of diversity and inclusion
being held in Bolton; and

Whereas the Board of Selectmen recognizes that the Town can do more to address issues of
diversity and inclusion in town; and

Whereas the Town recognizes that it may not fully aware of all issues of diversity and inclusion
that may arise within Bolton in any given year and may require resident help in input in order
to be able to address issues as they arise; and

Whereas the Board of Selectmen’s Subcommittee on Finance & Administration recommended at
their meeting on December 21, 2020, that an ad hoc Commission on Diversity & Inclusion be
created in order to better address issues of diversity and inclusion that may arise within the
town government and the community-at-large; therefore it be

Resolved that the Bolton Board of Selectmen; under the authority of Section 5.1, subsection C.2
of the Town Charter; creates a temporary (“ad hoc”) Commission on Diversity & Inclusion,
which shall consist of up to 15 members as are appointed to it by the Board, who shall be
empaneled for a term of one year following the first meeting of the Commission, and which
shall be empowered to create its own agenda as it seeks to address issues pertaining to town
government and community diversity and inclusion with the caveat that it shall be an advisory
body reporting to the Board of Selectmen.

39



Attachment B — Working Definitions

Bolton Diversity Commission

Working Definitions

Purpose: The intent of these working definitions is to allow the members of the Bolton Diversity Commission to utilize a
common language and increase the level of understanding between members. The working definitions set the frame
work for what the committee believes these words to mean.

1.

10.

DIVERSITY- the condition of having or being composed of differing elements, including an infinite range of
individual unique characteristics, identities and experiences such as race, gender, ideology, religion, sexual
orientation, age, physical ability, socioeconomic status, educational background, geographic location, marital
and parental status and more.
INTERSECTIONALITY — the interconnected nature of social categorizations such as race, class, gender, ethnicity,
age etc. as they apply to an individual or group, that create overlapping and interdependent systems of lived
experience and identity. (For example, one’s gender identity may impact one’s experience/treatment of their
racial identity and vice versa).
PREJUDICE- A preconceived feeling or opinion (usually negative) about someone based on that person’s
perceived group membership (e.g. race, class, gender, sexual orientation, ability, etc.) that is not based on actual
experience or reason and may be learned through socialization..
a. Clarifying points: Types of prejudice include ageism, homophobia, sexism, racism, xenophobia, ableism,
classism, etc.
BIAS - an inclination for or against a person, idea or thing, or place
IMPLICIT/UNCONCIOUS BIAS — an inclination for or against a person, idea or thing that a person is not
consciously aware of.
a. Clarifying points: Everyone has them. Typically learned through the process of socialization or a previous
isolated experience.
DISCRIMINATION — behavior or actions, usually negative, towards an individual or group of people on the basis
of a group identity, such as race, gender, social class, etc., resulting in different treatment between groups.
a. Clarifying Points: It is typically the result of prejudice/bias/implicit bias.
OPPRESSION- a combination of prejudice and institutional power (such as patterns of behavior, policies or
practices) that creates a system that regularly and severely discriminates against or disadvantages some groups
and benefits other groups.
MICROAGRESSION - everyday interactions or behaviors, whether intentional or unintentional, that
communicate some sort of negative bias or attitudes towards historically marginalized groups.
a. Clarifying Points: Examples include- following a black person around a store, commenting on how well
someone who is perceived to not be white speaks English, etc.
EQUALITY — each individual or group of individuals receiving or having access to the same resources or
opportunities,
EQUITY —the absence of avoidable or remediable differences among groups of people, whether those groups
are defined socially, economically, demographically or geographically. The achievement of equal OUTCOMES,
which may require the unequal provision of resources or opportunity to address imbalances created by systems
of oppression.

40



Attachment C - Survey
Bolton, CT - Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Community Survey (18 Years of Age and Older)

The Bolton Board of Selectmen recently authorized the creation of a Diversity Commission. We are conducting a survey
about your experiences in our local community. The purpose of this study is to gather information from people who
currently live, work or have lived, worked and gone to school in our community to help us identify strengths and
challenges related to diversity, equity and inclusion. Each person should only submit one survey, though each individual
in a household may submit their own survey. Please check out this link https://forms.gle/v79D6EDW1StLiKJU7 or those
in middle school and high school who would like to contribute their thoughts.

We recognize that we’re asking a lot of demographics questions -- this is both to make sure we hear from a diverse
group of people, as well as to understand differences in experience. All questions on this survey are entirely voluntary,
but we are asking you to please help us by providing this critical information so that we can fully understand survey
results.

Your answers will be completely confidential and survey results will be reported in aggregate form only and made
available to the public via the town website. Please note that at the end of this survey you have the OPTION to provide
your personal information if you would like to be contacted by a Diversity Commission member to be more involved or
share further information with us. An alternative way of reaching out to us is also provided. This survey should take you
about 10-15 minutes to complete.

Sincerely,

Bolton Diversity Commission

2) Please rate Bolton on each of the following Poor Fair Don’t Good | Excellent
Know

Making all residents feel welcome 0 O 0 0 0
Attracting people from diverse backgrounds to live, work or own O O O O O
businesses in Bolton
Valuing and demonstrating respect for residents from diverse O O O O O
backgrounds
Treating all residents fairly N n N O O
Providing a safe and secure environment for residents of all O O O O O
backgrounds
Providing equal employment opportunities to residents of all O O O O O
backgrounds
Providing equal access to housing for residents of all backgrounds m ] m 0 0
Welcoming residents from all backgrounds to participate in local O O O O O
government and community decision-making
Creating awareness of Bolton's diversity m n m 0O 0O
Offering gathering places for diverse groups to get together m n m 0O 0O

41


https://forms.gle/v79D6EDW1StLjKJU7

2) Please rate the Bolton TOWN GOVERNMENT on each of the Poor Fair Don’t Good | Excellent
following Know

Creating a community welcoming to residents of all backgrounds m ] m 0 0
Treating all residents with respect m ] m 0 0
Treating all residents fairly m ] m 0 0
Pr<.JV|d|ng. opportunities for residents with different opinions to 0 0 0 O O
voice their concerns

Providing translated materials on the Town website and through 0 0 0 O O
Town departments

Ensuring the town is well-designed for individuals with differing

abilities to get around freely, and participate fully in the O O O O O
community.

3) Please rate the Bolton SCHOOL SYSTEM on each of the Poor Fair Don’t Good | Excellent
following Know

Creating a community welcoming to residents of all backgrounds ] n ] O O
Treating all residents with respect ] n ] O O
Treating all residents fairly N n N O O
Providing opportunities for residents with different opinions to 0 O 0 O O
voice their concerns

Providing translated materials on the Town website and through 0 O 0 O O
Town departments

4) Please rate the Bolton LAW ENFORCEMENT on each of the Poor Fair Don’t Good | Excellent
following Know

Creating a community welcoming to residents of all backgrounds m ] m

Treating all residents with respect m ] m 0 0
Treating all residents fairly m ] m 0 0

42




5) Please rate how the Bolton community does with ensuring
the following groups of people feel welcome in Bolton.

Poor

Fair

Don’t
Know

Good

Excellent

People with differing abilities (physical, intellectual,
developmental, neurodiverse, emotional, behavioral)

People who identify as transgender, non-binary or gender non-
conforming.

People who identify as male

People who identify as female

o|jgo|o|Od

o|jgo|o|ad

o|jgo| ad

O oo O

O oo O

People who identify as belonging to a minority/marginalized
race/ ethnicity (i.e. Black, Asian, Indigenous, Arabic, Latin(o)(a)(x),
etc.)

O

a

O

O

O

People whose first language is not English

People who are not U.S. citizens

People of non-Christian faiths

People who are veterans or military personnel

People who are older

People who are younger

People who have lower income levels

Oo|o|jo|o|o|jo,|4d

Ooo|jo|ojo|jo,|a

Oo|o|jo|o|o|jo,|4d

Oo|lo/ooo|o,|ad

Oo|lo/ooo|o,|ad

6) Please choose the answer that matches your view:

Strongly
Disagree

Disagree

Don't
Know

Agree

Strongly
Agree

| can be my full, authentic self in Bolton.

O

a

| am likely to recommend living in Bolton to a friend or family
member who asks

| can raise issues about unfair treatment without fear of
consequences

| feel a sense of belonging in Bolton.

| encourage people in Bolton to share their unique perspectives
and experiences related to their background

[ O I R A I O B

0 O O O I O

[ O I R A I O B

ooy o|0|0O

I I I I

| frequently ask a person from a different group (race/ethnicity,
religion, gender, sexual orientation, ability, etc.) about how my
behavior has impacted them.

O

|

O

O

O

| frequently interact with people from other backgrounds in

Bolton

43



7) To what extent, if at all, have YOU personally experienced discrimination
based on each of the following in the Town of Bolton in the past 5 years?

Yes

No

Don’t Know

Age

Gender Identity

Race/s

National Origin (Birth Country)

Religion

Political Affiliation

Differing Physical Ability

Differing Intellectual/Developmental Ability

Differing Emotional/Behavioral Ability

Sexual Orientation

Oo0OooOoogoooono

O ooooOooooono

Oggooooooao

8) Please choose a number on the scale based on how much diversity YOU feel Bolton should have, with (1) being
much less, (9) being much more and (5) being you think Bolton's diversity level is perfect just as it is.

Much
Less 1 2 3 4 5 6
o O O O O O O
Diversity

7
O

8
|

9
O

Much
More
Diversity

9) Please describe a couple of Bolton's strengths with respect to diversity, equity, or inclusion.

10) Please describe a couple of Bolton's challenges with respect to diversity, equity, or inclusion.

11) If you have ever experienced any of the following in the Town of Bolton we invite you to please share
information about your experience: 1) barriers to fully participating in the Bolton community, 2) personally felt you
were not valued based on one or more of your identities, 3) experienced or witnessed an incident of hostility or

discrimination

12) We invite you to please share any positive/uplifting experiences you have had in Bolton related to diversity,

equity and inclusion.

44




13) We invite you to please provide suggestions you may have for how Bolton can be a stronger more inclusive
community and/or to provide a more welcoming environment for people of all backgrounds.

Demographic Questions

The following questions will ask you about how you identify yourself and will be used to ensure that we receive
survey responses from a diverse pool of residents.

14) Which category reflects your age group?
18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75+

ooOooOooa

15) What is your racial/ ethnic identity? (Choose all that apply)
Spanish, Hispanic, or Latin(o)(a)(x)

Arabic or Middle Eastern

American Indian or Alaskan Native

Asian, Asian Indian or Pacific Islander

Black or African American

White

Other

ooooooa

16) Is English your first/preferred language?
O Yes
O No

17) Which best describes your country of origin?
O My country of origin is the USA
O 1am originally from another country

18) What is your gender identity?

Male

Female

Transgender

Questioning

Gender Non-Conforming or Non-Binary
Other

oOoooon

45



19) Which term best describes your sexual orientation?

ooooooa

Asexual
Bisexual
Gay/Lesbian
Heterosexual
Pansexual
Queer

Other

20) Are/Were you a member of the U.S. Armed forces?

OoOooond

| have not been in the military
Active Military

Reservist

ROTC

Veteran

21) What is your highest completed level of education?

OoO0oOoono

22) Roughly what Area Median Income range does your annual household income fall into?
Below 30% of the AMI (< $22K for an individual or $31K for a family of 4)

Between 30-50% of the AMI ($22K-$36.5K for an individual, $31K-$52K for a family of 4)
Between 50-80% of the AMI ($36.5K-$56K for an individual, $52K - S80K for a family of 4)
Between 80-120% of the AMI ($56K-$84K for an individual, or S80k-$120K for a family of 4)
Greater than 120% of the AMI (>$84K for an individual, or >5120K for a family of 4)

OoOooond

23) Do you have a physical, mental, or emotional condition that impacts and/or shapes your participation in work

Some High School

High School Graduate or GED

Some College/ Technical Degree/Associates Degree
Bachelor's Degree

Master's Degree

Doctoral or Professional Degree

and society?

O
O

Yes
No

24) How would you characterize your political views?

OoOooOoooaa

Far Left
Liberal
Moderate
Conservative
Far Right
Undecided
Other

46



25) What is your religious or spiritual identity?
Agnostic/ Atheist

Buddhist

Christian

Hindu

Jewish

Muslim

Sikh

Spiritual but no religious affiliation
No affiliation

Other

OoodooOoooooad

26) Do you have any other comments or suggestions you would like to share?

27) If you would like to be contacted to share more information about your experiences in Bolton please put your
name and contact information (phone or email) below. If you want to be contacted but do not wish to have your
identity associated with these survey results, you may email the Bolton Diversity Commission chair at
AmandaDGordon@gmail.com.

28) What is your current 5 digit zip code?

29) Please let us know which of the following applies to you.
| am a current resident of Bolton, CT

| currently work in Bolton, CT but am not a resident.

| am a prior resident of Bolton, CT.

| previously worked in Bolton, CT.

| was a previous student in Bolton, CT.

None of the above.

OoOoooon

30) If a prior resident, student or employee in Bolton, how long ago did you live, work or go to
school in Bolton?

Within the last 2 years

3- 5 years ago

5-10 years ago

10-15 years ago

15-25 years ago

More than 25 years ago

OO00Oo0ooOnO

47



Attachment D -Proclamation
Proclamation of the Town of Bolton, Connecticut

A proclamation declaring a commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion as a community priority.

WHEREAS, the Town of Bolton, endeavors to be a welcoming community that takes pride in its history, and recognizes
the contributions that all past, current and future residents make to the town; and

WHEREAS, the town recognizes that residents have much in common with each other; and
WHEREAS, the town also recognizes that residents have differences that sometimes divide us; and

WHEREAS, conduct that inflicts emotional, mental or physical harm against individuals because of their race, ethnicity,
place of origin, physical, intellectual or emotional ability, socio-economic status, gender identity, sexual orientation, age,
or religion, has no place in our community and country; and

WHEREAS, the town acknowledges that individuals in the Town of Bolton have suffered from such conduct; and
WHEREAS, the Town of Bolton expressly rejects such conduct and acts

WHEREAS, The Town of Bolton in all its forms of government, boards and commissions, promote respect for all persons;
and

WHEREAS, each of us can, and should, promote inclusiveness, celebrate diversity, support all fellow community
members, prevent the spread of misinformation, and reject hate and bias in all forms, and which will make Bolton a
stronger and healthier community; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED, by the Board of Selectmen of Bolton, Connecticut that Bolton is committed to
being an inclusive community that rejects stigma and bias against individuals, that embraces diversity, equity and
inclusion efforts on all levels to achieve fundamental change, and that urges our members and residents of our
community to treat each other with respect and to overcome all expressions of hate and bigotry.

48



TAX COLLECTOR

6.30.22
PERCENTAGE
ADOPTED REVISED COLLECTIONS RETURNED NET COLLECTION  COLLECTED
YTD REFUNDS  PAYMENTS  Transfers 6.30.22 FY 21 BUDGET
CURRENT YR.LEVY § 15,678,283.00 $ 15,873,187.00 S 15,988,277.05 S (67,274.75) S (17,489.28) $ 2,336.19 S 15,905,849.21 100.21%
MOTOR VEHICLE S 1,694,841.00 $ 1,642,422.00 $ 1,684,705.61 S (22,146.64) S (6,486.11) S (2,333.41) § 1,653,739.45 100.69%
SUPP.MV LEVY $ 175,000.00 $  226,129.00 230,503.75 $ (54.15) $ (70.15) $ 2,629.22 S  233,008.67 103.04%
SUB TOTAL $ 17,548,124.00 $ 17,741,738.00 $ 17,903,486.41 S (89,475.54) $ (24,045.54) $ 2,632.00 $ 17,792,597.33 100.29%
PRIOR YEARS S 75,000.00 $ 111,768.00 S 123,837.03 $ (850.67) S (2,598.53) § 120,387.83 107.71%
INTEREST & FEES ~ $ 50,000.00 $ 72,932.00 $ 83,059.99 $ - s (125.73) $  (33.47) $ 82,900.79 113.67%

S

TOTAL $ 17,673,124.00 $ 17,926,438.00 $ 18,110,383.43 $(90,326.21) $ (24,171.27) $  (0.00) $ 17,995,885.95 100.39%

PREVIOUS YEAR CURRENT YR LEVY COLLECTED

7.31.2021 8.31.2021 9.30.2021 10.30.21 11.30.2021 12.31.2021
19.07% 90.94% 98.67% 99.09% 99.52% 99.95%
1.31.2022 2.28.2022 3.30.2022 4.30.2022 5.31.2022 6.30.2022
100.98% 101.06% 101.12% 101.24% 100.18% 100.21%
7.31.2020 8.31.2020 9.30.2020 10.30.2020 11.30.2020 12.31.2020
74.79% 82.27% 97.69% 100.02% 100.17% 100.32%
1.31.2021 2.28.21 3.30.2021 4.30.21 5.31.2021 6.30.2021
100.37% 100.43% 100.49% 100.67% 100.03% 100.33%



PERCENTAGE
ADOPTED COLLECTIONS RETURNED  RETURNED NET COLLECTION COLLECTED

YTD REFUNDS  ON-LINEPYMT  CHECKS  Transfers 7.31.22 FY 23 BUDGET

CURRENT YR.LEVY S 15,953,417.00 S 13,738,727.24 - S - - $ 230433 $ 13,741,031.57 86.13%
MOTOR VEHICLE S 1,737,991.00 S 1,150,726.82 - S - - S 461.44 S 1,151,188.26 66.24%
SUPP.MVLEVY  $  175,000.00 - -8 - -8 - - 0.00%
SUB TOTAL $ 17,866,408.00 $ 14,889,454.06 S - - $ 276577 $ 14,892,219.83 83.35%
PRIOR YEARS $ 70,000.00  $ 22,019.24 $ (2,765.77) $ 19,253.47 27.50%
INTEREST & FEES S 55,000.00 S 4,271.23 - S 4,271.23 7.77%

S
TOTAL $17,991,408.00 $ 14,915,744.53 -8 - -8 - $ 14,915,744.53 82.90%

7.31.2022 8.31.2022 9.30.2022 10.31.2022 11.30.2022 12.31.2022
86.13%

1.31.2023 2.28.2023 3.30.2023 4.30.2023 5.31.2023 6.30.2023
7.31.2021 8.31.2021 9.30.2021 10.31.2021 11.30.2021 12.31.2021
19.07% 90.94% 98.67% 99.09% 99.52% 99.95%
1.31.2022 2.28.2022 3.30.2022 4.30.2022 5.31.2022 6.30.2022
100.98% 101.06% 101.12% 101.24% 100.18% 100.39%



PERCENTAGE

ADOPTED COLLECTIONS RETURNED TAXCOLL. NET COLLECTION COLLECTED
YTD REFUNDS  PAYMENTS TRANSFERS 8.31.22 FY 23 BUDGET
CURRENT YR.LEVY $ 15953,417.00 $ 15843,652.03 $ - $ (14567.19) $  2,30433 $  15831,389.17 99.24%
MOTOR VEHICLE ~ $  1,737,991.00  $  1541,316.99 $ (71.38) $ (4,156.22) $ 46144 $  1,537,550.83 88.47%
SUPP.MVLEVY ~ $  175,000.00 -3 - S - S -3 - 0.00%
SUB TOTAL $ 17,866,408.00 $ 17,384,969.02 $ (71.38) $ (18,723.41) $ 2,765.77 $  17,368,940.00 97.22%
PRIOR YEARS $ 70,000.00  $ 3532344 $ (29237 $ (2,765.77) $ 32,265.30 46.09%
INTEREST & FEES ~ $ 55,000.00  $ 17,905.33 $ - S5 (170.44) $ 17,734.89 32.25%

S
TOTAL $17,991,408.00 $ 17,438,197.79 $  (363.75) $ (18,893.85) $ - $ 17,418,940.19 96.82%
7.31.2022 8.31.2022 9.30.2022  10.31.2022 11.30.2022 12.31.2022
86.13% 99.24%

1.31.2023 2.28.2023 3.30.2023  4.30.2023 5.31.2023 6.30.2023

7.31.2021 8.31.2021 9.30.2021  10.31.2021 11.30.2021 12.31.2021

19.07% 90.94% 98.67% 99.09% 99.52% 99.95%

1.31.2022 2.28.2022 3.30.2022  4.30.2022 5.31.2022 6.30.2022

100.98% 101.06% 101.12% 101.24% 100.18% 100.39%



FY2023 September 30, 2022

Revised

%

Adopted Budget Budget Expense YTD Balance Encumbrance Unexpended Expensed FY22 FY21 FY20

Administration S 708,256.00 | $ 708,256.00 | S 106,970.95 | S 601,285.05 | $ 225.00 | S 601,060.05 15.14% 12.64% 11.98% 24.42%
Board of Finance S 2,200.00 | $ 2,200.00 | S 147.00 | S 2,053.00 | S - S 2,053.00 6.68% 3.05% 0.00% 0.00%
Financial Administration S 237,546.00 | $ 237,546.00 | 56,510.30 | $ 181,035.70 | S - S 181,035.70 23.79% 13.06% 13.37% 13.08%
Auditing S 29,000.00 | $ 29,000.00 | $ - S 29,000.00 | $ - S 29,000.00 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Assessor S 131,112.00 | S 131,112.00 | S 19,849.72 | S 111,262.28 | S - S 111,262.28 15.14% 13.75% 13.85% 13.80%
Tax Collector S 91,208.00 | $ 91,208.00 | $ 21,544.01 | S 69,663.99 | $ 229.88 | S 69,434.11 23.87% 17.14% 14.64% 16.10%
Fringe Benefits S 1,036,526.00 | $ 1,036,526.00 | S 217,379.26 | § 819,146.74 S 819,146.74 20.97% 12.32% 14.25% 15.73%
Town Clerk S 137,760.00 | S 137,760.00 | S 34,421.34 | S 103,338.66 | S 5,850.00 | S 97,488.66 29.23% 18.92% 18.97% 19.81%
Land Use S 342,653.00 | $ 342,653.00 | 52,813.10 | 289,839.90 | $ 31,313.00 | $ 258,526.90 24.55% 17.62% 20.83% 17.72%
Planning & Zoning S 4,250.00 | $ 4,250.00 | S 46291 | S 3,787.09 S 3,787.09 10.89% 3.31% 2.25% 1.14%
Zoning Board of Appeals S 1,640.00 | $ 1,640.00 | $ - S 1,640.00 S 1,640.00 0.00% 2.10% 0.00% 0.00%
Property Insurance S 145,400.00 | $ 145,400.00 | $ 48,799.57 | S 96,600.43 S 96,600.43 33.56% 27.85% 31.05% 26.26%
Probate S 6,258.00 | S 6,258.00 | $ - S 6,258.00 S 6,258.00 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100.00%
Inlands/Wetlands S 2,235.00 | $ 2,235.00 | $ 265.49 | S 1,969.51 S 1,969.51 11.88% 3.00% 3.36% 10.44%
Elections S 65,613.00 | S 65,613.00 | $ 20,777.30 | $ 44,835.70 S 44,835.70 31.67% 15.86% 19.90% 4.82%
Police S 331,050.00 | S 331,050.00 | $ - S 331,050.00 S 331,050.00 0.00% 0.00% 0.01% 0.00%
Fire Commission S 241,385.00 | $ 241,385.00 | $ 49,036.67 | S 192,348.33 | $ 23,263.75 | S 169,084.58 29.95% 21.76% 19.96% 54.68%
Animal Control S 3,100.00 | S 3,100.00 | $ 3,000.00 | $ 100.00 S 100.00 96.77% 0.00%| 100.00% 0.00%
Fire Marshal S 32,000.00 | $ 32,000.00 | S 2,564.85 | S 29,435.15 | S 994.36 | S 28,440.79 11.12% 2.15% 5.05% 0.00%
Emergency Management S 14,693.00 | S 14,693.00 | S 4,259.22 | S 10,433.78 S 10,433.78 28.99% 12.03% 11.68%

Highways and Streets S 1,002,817.00 | $ 1,002,817.00 | S 231,407.79 | S 771,409.21 | S 157,537.14 | S 613,872.07 38.79% 18.31% 27.94% 32.40%
Public Building Commission S 4,100.00 | $ 4,100.00 | S 135.50 | S 3,964.50 S 3,964.50 3.30% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Parks/Town Building Ops S 803,646.00 | S 803,646.00 | S 147,058.93 | S 656,587.07 | S 6,521.52 | S 650,065.55 19.11% 11.35% 13.08% 13.69%
Public Health Admin S 28,878.00 | S 28,878.00 | S 7,119.45 | S 21,758.55 | S 340.00 | S 21,418.55 25.83% 23.27% 22.97% 20.43%
Seniors / Social Services S 159,498.00 | S 159,498.00 | S 36,368.75 | S 123,129.25 | S 8,990.00 | S 114,139.25 28.44% 10.15% 10.53% 18.47%
Library S 295,408.00 | $ 295,408.00 | $ 85,189.23 | S 210,218.77 | S 5,641.86 | S 204,576.91 30.75% 24.68% 20.57% 26.65%
Conservation S 2,105.00 | S 2,105.00 | S 37145 | S 1,733.55 S 1,733.55 17.65% 4.82% 10.46% 15.08%
Waste Collection S 572,454.00 | $ 572,454.00 | $ 124,276.31 | S 448,177.69 | S 310.50 | $ 447,867.19 21.76% 8.72% 14.32% 13.08%
Totals S 6,432,791.00 | $ 6,432,791.00 | $ 1,270,729.10 | $ 5,162,061.90 | S 241,217.01 | $ 4,920,844.89 23.50% 12.33% 11.47% 23.94%

A department that is running much higher than previous years.




Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
3333 LLC
Check Group:
7'x15' ASPHALT DUMP TRUCK TARP 10 14062 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $199.85
9/12/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.

Check #: 12515

PO/InvoiceTotal: $199.85
Vendor Total: $199.85
ACT GROUP B8459
Check Group:
FY 21/22 COPIER CONTRACT FOR PERIOD 10 INV151390 1005.000.0000.000000.20200.00000 $885.60
4/29-7/28/22
9/22/2022 Accounts payable - Town
Check #: 12516
PO/InvoiceTotal: $885.60
Vendor Total: $885.60
ADKINS PRINTING AND STATIONERS B29986
Check Group:
2 PACKS OF INDEX COPY PAPER 10 5968 2822.041.4147.000000.56010.00000 $37.00
9/9/2022 Hist. Doc. Pres. Prog.-Supplies
Check #: 12517
PO/InvoiceTotal: $37.00
Check Group:
LAND RECORD VOLUMES 192-201 10 230517 5967 2822.041.4147.000000.56010.00000 $950.00
9/9/2022 Hist. Doc. Pres. Prog.-Supplies
LAND RECORD PAPER 10 230517 5967 2822.041.4147.000000.56010.00000 $800.00
9/9/2022 Hist. Doc. Pres. Prog.-Supplies
VITAL RECORD PAPER - ARCHIVAL BINDER 2 230517 5967 2822.041.4147.000000.56010.00000 $190.00
9/9/2022 Hist. Doc. Pres. Prog.-Supplies
VITAL RECORD PAPER 2 230517 5967 2822.041.4147.000000.56010.00000 $150.00
9/9/2022 Hist. Doc. Pres. Prog.-Supplies

Check #: 12517

Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 1



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
PO/InvoiceTotal: $2,090.00
Vendor Total: $2,127.00
ANTHEM BLUE CROSS
Check Group:
RETIREE MEDICAL - OCT 2022 10 1395121G 1005.000.0000.000000.20770.00000 $458.57
9/17/2022 Insurance Clearing Liability
Check #: 12518
PO/InvoiceTotal: $458.57
Vendor Total: $458.57
ANTHEM LIFE
Check Group:
TOWN LIFE INSURANCE - OCT 2022 10 8295618 1005.041.4141.000000.52100.00000 $159.36
9/18/2022 Life Insurance - Empl. Bene
Check #: 12519
PO/InvoiceTotal: $159.36
Vendor Total: $159.36
ASPLUNDH TREE EXPERT CO.
Check Group:
TREE CUTTING - APPROX. 2 WKS 1 230102 72P90122 1005.043.4303.000000.54304.00000 $4,880.00
9/2/2022 Tree Triming - H.W.
Check #: 12520
PO/InvoiceTotal: $4,880.00
Vendor Total: $4,880.00
ATLAS COMPANIES
Check Group:
Guard rail repair Birch Mountain Road - unknown accident 1 230366 4518-IN 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $2,497.50
9/8/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
Check #: 12521
PO/InvoiceTotal: $2,497.50
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 2



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
Vendor Total: $2,497.50
BECKER CONSTRUCTION CO. T1333
Check Group:
66.93 TONS PROCESSED GRAVEL 1 230301 38180 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $920.29
8/31/2022 Road Repair - H.W.

Check #: 12522

PO/InvoiceTotal: $920.29
Vendor Total: $920.29
BROWN & BROWN OF CT INC
Check Group:
MONTHLY CONSULTING SERVICE CONTRACT - OCT 10 9756766 1005.041.4141.000000.52010.00000 $770.00
2022
9/1/2022 Insurance Admin. Fees - Empl. Bene.
Check #: 12523
PO/InvoiceTotal: $770.00
Vendor Total: $770.00
COMCAST.
Check Group:
HP INTERNET #5775 10 #5775 1005.043.4399.000000.55300.00000 $110.35
9/30-10/29/22
9/23/2022 Communications - Town Building Oper.
Check #: 12524
PO/InvoiceTotal: $110.35
Vendor Total: $110.35
CONNECTICUT NATURAL GAS CORP.
Check Group:
Heating Fuel - #1072 TOWN HALL 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $142.01
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.
Heating Fuel - #7591 BML 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $115.61
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.

Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 3



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
Heating Fuel - #1461 TOWN GARAGE 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $172.81
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.
Heating Fuel - #1656 NRMC 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $433.59
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.
Heating Fuel - #1664 NRMC SMALL TANK 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $137.61
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.
Heating Fuel - #9069 FIRE DEPT 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $305.83
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.
Heating Fuel - #1148 RST 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $178.57
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.
Heating Fuel - #8180 PARKS BLDG 10 HEAT 8/9-9/9/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56210.00000 $178.07
9/14/2022 Heating Fuel - Town Building Oper.
Check #: 12525
PO/InvoiceTotal: $1,664.10
Vendor Total: $1,664.10
COTT SYSTEMS INC. T1079
Check Group:
MONTHLY HOSTED SOLUTION 1 230162 149084 1005.041.4147.000000.53520.00000 $650.00
10/1/2022 Other Contracts - Town Clerk
Check #: 12526
PO/InvoiceTotal: $650.00
Vendor Total: $650.00
CT FEDERATION OF PLANNING & ZONING AGENC T1045
Check Group:
ZBA WORKSHOP BOOKLETS 10 BOOK ORDER 1005.041.4155.000000.56120.00000 $60.00
9/2/22
9/2/2022 Office Oper. Supplies - Zoning BOA
Check #: 12527
POl/InvoiceTotal: $60.00
Vendor Total: $60.00
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 4



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
DESIATO SAND & GRAVEL CORP B40782
Check Group:
7 YARDS OF LOAM 364783 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $189.00
8/8/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
MASON SAND 366425 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $109.75
8/17/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
Check #: 12528
PO/InvoiceTotal: $298.75
Vendor Total: $298.75
EAST RIVER ENERGY
Check Group:
GAS - 805.60 GAL @ $2.846990 PER GAL 367178 TWN 1005.043.4303.000000.56260.00000 $2,293.54
9/14/2022 Diesel & Gasoline - H.W.
Check #: 12529
PO/InvoiceTotal: $2,293.54
Vendor Total: $2,293.54
ENGLAND TRUE VALUE HARDWARE
Check Group:
FASTENERS 736580 1005.000.0000.000000.20200.00000 $12.56
2/11/2022 Accounts payable - Town
SCREWS, HITCH PINS, SNAP & QUICK LINK 738561 1005.000.0000.000000.20200.00000 $40.70
3/4/2022 Accounts payable - Town
FASTENERS & TUBING 741982 1005.000.0000.000000.20200.00000 $58.54
4/4/2022 Accounts payable - Town
FASTENERS 759895 1005.042.4203.000000.56100.00000 $10.49
8/7/2022 Repairs & Maint. Supplies - Fire Comm.
MISC SUPPLIES - FASTENERS, ENAMEL, PAINT, ETC. AUG 2022 - HWY 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $30.47
DEPT
8/31/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 5



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
SUPPLIES FOR VARIOUS BUILDINGS 10 AUG 2022 - 1005.043.4399.000000.56100.00000 $235.61
PARK DEPT
8/31/2022 Supplies - Town Building Oper.
REFUND TO ADMIN FOR DOUBLE PYMT ON 10 AUG 2022 - 1005.041.4107.000000.56300.00000 ($39.95)
CONSERVATION PURCHASE PARK DEPT
8/31/2022 Other Supplies - Admin.
Check #: 12530
PO/InvoiceTotal: $348.42
Vendor Total: $348.42
EVERSOURCE.
Check Group:
Electricity - #2018 TRAFFIC LIGHTS 10 #2018 8/1-9/1/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56220.00000 $35.03
9/1/2022 Electricity - Town Building Oper.
Electricity - #2048 STREET LIGHTS 10 #2048 8/1-9/1/22  1005.043.4399.000000.56220.00000 $1,352.81
9/1/2022 Electricity - Town Building Oper.
Electricity - #4071 HERRICK PARK 10 #4071 1005.043.4399.000000.56220.00000 $30.00
7122-8/23/22
8/23/2022 Electricity - Town Building Oper.
Electricity - #5034 HIGH RIDGE FARM 10 #5034 1005.043.4399.000000.56220.00000 $12.96
8/16-9/15/22
9/15/2022 Electricity - Town Building Oper.
Check #: 12531
PO/InvoiceTotal: $1,430.80
Vendor Total: $1,430.80
FREDERICK LUCK T1128
Check Group:
LETTERING ON PLOW TRUCK #5 10 SEPT 1ST 1005.043.4303.000000.54300.00000 $156.00
LETTERING
9/1/2022 Repairs & Maintenance Services - H.W.
Check #: 12532
PO/InvoiceTotal: $156.00
Vendor Total: $156.00
FREIGHTLINER OF HARTFORD, INC T1995
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 6



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
Check Group:
HUB CAPS & SHOCKS 10 911817 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $188.54
9/16/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
2 HUB CAPS 10 911817X1 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $20.22
9/21/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
HOOD DAMPER 10 911967 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $60.95
9/16/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
Check #: 12533
PO/InvoiceTotal: $269.71
Vendor Total: $269.71
FRONTIER.
Check Group:
NRMC TELEPHONE #1243 10 #1243 1005.043.4399.000000.55300.00000 $334.17
9/17-10/16/22
9/17/2022 Communications - Town Building Oper.
Check #: 12534
PO/InvoiceTotal: $334.17
Vendor Total: $334.17
GRAINGER B3131
Check Group:
SLOAN PLUMBING SUPPLIES 10 9438970106 1005.043.4399.000000.56100.00000 $176.60
9/8/2022 Supplies - Town Building Oper.
Check #: 12535
PO/InvoiceTotal: $176.60
Vendor Total: $176.60
GRANITE COMMUNICATIONS INC
Check Group:
NEW CORDLESS PHONE FOR SENIOR CENTER PLUS 1 230498 111426 1005.043.4399.000000.54300.00000 $325.65
PROGRAMMING
7126/2022 Repair & Maint. Services - Town Build. Oper.
Check #: 12536
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 7



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
PO/InvoiceTotal: $325.65
Vendor Total: $325.65
HIGHLAND PARK MARKET
Check Group:
TOWN HALL FOOD & SUPPLIES 10 02-806397 1005.041.4107.000000.56300.00000 $47.57
8/11/2022 Other Supplies - Admin.
TOWN HALL FOOD 10 02-806405 1005.041.4107.000000.56300.00000 $46.99
8/11/2022 Other Supplies - Admin.
Check #: 12537
PO/InvoiceTotal: $94.56
Vendor Total: $94.56
J & S RADIO SALES INC. T1794
Check Group:
Radios, batteries & chargers 1 230252 32795 1005.042.4203.000000.57300.00000 $857.16
8/30/2022 Equipment - Fire Comm.
Check #: 12538
PO/InvoiceTotal: $857.16
Vendor Total: $857.16
JOURNAL INQUIRER
Check Group:
LEGAL ADs 7/29/22 & 8/5/22 - PZC PUBLIC HEARING 10 82245409 1005.041.4153.000000.55400.00000 $239.25
NOTICE
8/31/2022 Advertising - P & Z
Check #: 12539
PO/InvoiceTotal: $239.25
Vendor Total: $239.25
LOWES BUSINESS ACCOUNT T1158
Check Group:
INTEREST CHARGE FOR SEPT 2022 10 INTEREST SEPT 1005.043.4399.000000.56100.00000 $0.65
22
9/17/2022 Supplies - Town Building Oper.
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 8



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
LATE FEE FOR JULY 2022 10 LATE FEE JULY  1005.043.4399.000000.56100.00000 $29.00
22
7/13/2022 Supplies - Town Building Oper.
LATE FEE FOR SEPT 2022 10 LATE FEE SEPT  1005.043.4399.000000.56100.00000 $29.00
22
9/12/2022 Supplies - Town Building Oper.
Check #: 12540
PO/InvoiceTotal: $58.65
Check Group:
SUPPLIES FOR SIGNS 1 230470 37934 1005.043.4399.000000.56100.00000 $532.32
9/13/2022 Supplies - Town Building Oper.
Check #: 12540
PO/InvoiceTotal: $532.32
Vendor Total: $590.97
MOHAWK SAFETY
Check Group:
HARD HAT, EARMUFFS, DRIVER'S GLOVES 10 133928 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $198.57
8/26/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
RUBBER GLOVES & EARPLUGS 10 133933 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $81.83
8/31/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
Check #: 12541
PO/InvoiceTotal: $280.40
Vendor Total: $280.40
MONACO & SONS MOTOR SALES, INC.
Check Group:
REPAIRS TO FORD EXPLORER - BUILDING 1 230258 492554 1005.043.4303.000000.54300.00000 $3,179.60
INSPECTOR'S CAR
8/26/2022 Repairs & Maintenance Services - H.W.
Check #: 12542
PO/InvoiceTotal: $3,179.60
Check Group:
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 9



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
FRONT-END REPAIRS ON 2016 F-350 1 230499 494313 1005.043.4399.000000.54300.00000 $1,655.55
9/19/2022 Repair & Maint. Services - Town Build. Oper.
Check #: 12542
PO/InvoiceTotal: $1,655.55
Vendor Total: $4,835.15
MONTAGE ENTERPRISES, INC
Check Group:
MOWER BLADES 1 230201 99001 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $337.50
9/6/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
Check #: 12543
PO/InvoiceTotal: $337.50
Vendor Total: $337.50
NAPA AUTO PARTS
Check Group:
BATTERY 10 0693-273202 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $99.08
8/16/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
TRANSMISSION DRIVE BELT 10 0693-273214 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $12.51
8/16/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
ERASER WHEEL 10 0693-273270 1005.043.4303.000000.56100.00000 $36.02
8/16/2022 Repair & Maintenance Supplies - H.W.
Check #: 12544
PO/InvoiceTotal: $147.61
Vendor Total: $147.61
NEW ENGLAND FIRE EQUIPMENT &
Check Group:
Rear Step - Replacement part for tanker 1 230238 30768 1005.042.4203.000000.56100.00000 $799.34
8/25/2022 Repairs & Maint. Supplies - Fire Comm.
Check #: 12545
PO/InvoiceTotal: $799.34
Vendor Total: $799.34
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 10



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
NFPA.
Check Group:
FIRE PREV WK SUPPLIES - STICKERS, MAGNETS, 10 8284721Y 1005.042.4219.000000.56010.00000 $152.17
BROCHURES, ACTIVITY BKS, ETC.
9/3/2022 Supplies - Fire Marshal
Check #: 12546
PO/InvoiceTotal: $152.17
Vendor Total: $152.17
O&G INDUSTRIES INC
Check Group:
BAGS OF CEMENT 20 230512 591163 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $215.00
9/9/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
Check #: 12547
PO/InvoiceTotal: $215.00
Vendor Total: $215.00
ORKIN T40835
Check Group:
RODENT PESTICIDE TREATMENT - SENIOR CENTER 1 230130 236038025 1005.043.4399.000000.54300.00000 $207.00
8/5/2022 Repair & Maint. Services - Town Build. Oper.
Check #: 12548
PO/InvoiceTotal: $207.00
Vendor Total: $207.00
PATRICE L CARSON
Check Group:
CONSULTING SERVICES 9/5-9/11/22 245 0 WI/E 9/11/22 1005.041.4151.000000.53300.00000 $1,715.00
9/18/2022 Professional/ Tech Serv - Build. & Land Use
CONSULTING SERVICES 9/12-9/18/22 33 0 WI/E 9/18/22 1005.041.4151.000000.53300.00000 $2,310.00
9/18/2022 Professional/ Tech Serv - Build. & Land Use
Check #: 12549
POl/InvoiceTotal: $4,025.00
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 11



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
Vendor Total: $4,025.00
THE ANDREW ANSALDI CO
Check Group:
TYPE N MORTAR MIX - 7 BAGS 0 190096 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $112.00
9/1/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
Check #: 12550
PO/InvoiceTotal: $112.00
Vendor Total: $112.00
TILCON CONNECTICUT INC. T1039
Check Group:
ASPHALT FOR REPAIRS OF RECENT WORK 230008 1794673 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $303.66
9/1/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
ASPHALT FOR REPAIRS OF RECENT WORK 230008 1795945 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $612.41
9/8/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
ASPHALT FOR REPAIRS OF RECENT WORK 230008 1797150 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $276.78
9/15/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
ASPHALT FOR REPAIRS OF RECENT WORK 230008 1798403 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $203.12
9/22/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
Check #: 12551
PO/InvoiceTotal: $1,395.97
Vendor Total: $1,395.97
USA HAULING & RECYCLING
Check Group:
*BULKY* RECYCLING - AUG 2022 0 602880251 1005.084.8405.000000.54101.00000 $794.12
9/1/2022 Refuse Removal. - Ref. Serv.
*YARDWASTE* RECYCLING - JULY 2022 0 602880252 1005.084.8405.000000.54101.00000 $397.06
9/1/2022 Refuse Removal. - Ref. Serv.
Check #: 12552
POl/InvoiceTotal: $1,191.18
Vendor Total: $1,191.18
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 12



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
USI INS. SERVICES LLC
Check Group:
GENEREAL LIABILITY COMMERCIAL PKG RENEWAL 10 4287836 1005.041.4157.000000.55200.00000 $7,444.00
9/1/22-9/1/23
9/1/2022 Property & Liability Insurance
EXCESS LIABILITY POLICY RENEWAL 9/1/22-9/1/23 10 4287841 1005.041.4157.000000.55200.00000 $1,500.00
9/1/2022 Property & Liability Insurance
Check #: 12553
POl/InvoiceTotal: $8,944.00
Vendor Total: $8,944.00
VERIZON WIRELESS
Check Group:
TOWN TELEPHONE #7775 B&G 10 9916161314 1005.043.4399.000000.55300.00000 $26.82
9/19/2022 Communications - Town Building Oper.
TOWN TELEPHONE #3386 J RUPERT 10 9916161314 1005.043.4399.000000.55300.00000 $50.47
9/19/2022 Communications - Town Building Oper.
TOWN TELEPHONE #1082 REC DEPT 10 9916161314 1005.043.4399.000000.55300.00000 $40.01
9/19/2022 Communications - Town Building Oper.
SENIORS TELEPHONE #1130 10 9916161314 1005.044.4427.000000.55300.00000 $18.38
9/19/2022 Telephone - Sen. Serv.
SENIORS TELEPHONE #5383 10 9916161314 1005.044.4427.000000.55300.00000 $18.38
9/19/2022 Telephone - Sen. Serv.
Check #: 12554
PO/InvoiceTotal: $154.06
Vendor Total: $154.06
WESTERN OIL INC.
Check Group:
RECYCLE OIL AT RECYCLE CENTER 1 230528 61978 1005.084.8405.000000.54101.00000 $310.50
9/21/2022 Refuse Removal. - Ref. Serv.
Check #: 12555
PO/InvoiceTotal: $310.50
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 13



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
Vendor Total: $310.50
WHITE WAY LAUNDRY, INC. T7094
Check Group:
UNIFORMS 10 940681 1005.043.4303.000000.56930.00000 $58.73
8/3/2022 Uniforms & Supplies - H.W.
UNIFORMS 10 949543 1005.043.4303.000000.56930.00000 $58.73
8/10/2022 Uniforms & Supplies - H.W.
CARPETS 10 949543 1005.043.4399.000000.56100.00000 $16.18
8/10/2022 Supplies - Town Building Oper.
UNIFORMS 10 958938 1005.043.4303.000000.56930.00000 $58.73
8/17/2022 Uniforms & Supplies - H.W.
UNIFORMS 10 968290 1005.043.4303.000000.56930.00000 $58.73
8/24/2022 Uniforms & Supplies - H.W.
UNIFORMS 10 977649 1005.043.4303.000000.56930.00000 $58.73
8/31/2022 Uniforms & Supplies - H.W.

Check #: 12556

PO/InvoiceTotal: $309.83
Vendor Total: $309.83
WINDHAM MATERIALS, LLC T40529
Check Group:
WASTE ASPHALT 9/2/22 10 197444 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $66.50
9/3/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
WASTE ASPHALT 9/7/22 & 9/9/22 10 197615 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $131.31
9/10/2022 Road Repair - H.W.
Check #: 12557
PO/InvoiceTotal: $197.81
Check Group:
WASTE ASPHALT 8/22/22 1 230516 197109 1005.043.4303.000000.57500.00000 $209.51

8/27/2022 Road Repair - H.W.

Check #: 12557

Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32 Page: 14



Town of Bolton

Voucher Detail Listing

Voucher Batch Number: 1117 10/05/2022
Fiscal Year: 2022-2023
Vendor Remit Name QTY PO No. Invoice Account Amount
Description Vendor # Invoice Date
PO/InvoiceTotal: $209.51
Vendor Total: $407.32
Grand Total: $46,622.23
End of Report
Printed: 09/27/2022 3:48:06 PM Report:  rptAPVoucherDetail 2021.4.32

Page: 15



SD-

BUDGET TRANSFER REQUEST
TO
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

BUDGET: Senior m

Transfer $1000  from category Repairs & Maint. to category G€NeEral Suppliers

(within budget)  from 'Y¥Y -%%«f _UUUU _ VM _ O%94 to VU9 Frel  UUUU UV . D0
Transfer $ from Budget to Budget
from category to category
from - -0000 - - to_ - _099_0 _______
Other $
Explanation: 10 passenger van failed DMV registration inspection due to worn tires. Purchase of 6 new tires.
rAM/‘ Signature
Director Title
8/16/22 Date
Board of Selectmen Approved Comments:
/
No ' WQAE’ 7/
Robert Morra %w g 77 ZL
Mike Eremita
Adam Teller
Pam Sawyer

Date 8/17/2022




BUDGET TRANSFER REQUEST
TO
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

BUDGET: Finance

Transfer $300 from category Payroll to category Prof. Ed. Training

(within budgef)  from 1005 _041 4117 _00!_5161C (, 1005 _041 4117 _00_5320C

Transfer $ from Budget to Budget
from category to category
fom ___ - -0000. . = to ___-____-0000. .
Other $
Explanation:

To attend the fall and spring GFOA conferences

AN m Signature
~—+~"

Diregtor of Finance Title
N_/
9/27/22 Date
Board of Selectmen Approved Comments:

Yes No
Robert Morra

Mike Eremita
Robert DePietro
Adam Teller
Pam Sawyer

Date




DIGGING INTO HISTORY 2023

Ty

—

eI

recoy

TR NP RS R

SO S et e

e

£3 2o et s

s

PO

(IS R e
e
B

—

Digaing Into History -
The Rochambeau Edition

Prepared for: Bolton Board of Selectmen c-l- St CI‘l'. e Libr a ry

rorl b e . . .
Prepared by: Christine Fittsley, Special Projects Director Preserving the Past. Informing the Future.
Date: August 23, 2022




DIGGING INTO HISTORY 2023

SUMMARY

Objective

Digging Into History, a program of the Connecticut State Library, would like to request permission from the
Bolton Board of Selectmen to conduct our 2023 program at the Bolton Heritage Farm, under the direction
of Connecticut Archaeologist Dr. Sarah Sportman. This program will run 10-24 July 2023 with a focus on
the French presence in Connecticut during the American Revolution, with an archaeological excavation of
comte de Rochambeau’s Camp #5 in Bolton.

Goals

If the Bolton Board of Selectmen approve this partnership, there are three primary goals the 2023 Digging
Into History program would like to achieve: to strengthen the bonds between Connecticut and our friends
in and around Seicheprey, France; raise awareness of the comte de Rochambeau and his army’s presence
in Connecticut, and the contributions of the French to the American Revolution; and continue building
collaborative community connections between the Connecticut State Library and the communities we
serve, in this case with the town of Bolton.

Program Details
e Dates:
- Students arrive - Monday 10 July 2023
Excavation dates - Wednesday 12 July 2023 - Thursday 20 July 2023
o Students depart - Monday 24 July 2023
o Students
¢ Thers will be 30 students: 15 Connecticut and 15 French
o Chaperones
© There will be 3 Connecticut chaperones, at least one of whom will hold American Red Cross First
Aid/CPR/AED certification:
> Christine Pittsley, Project Director
¢ TBD, History teacher
TBD, French teacher
> Up to 8 French chaperones
T-2 interns
18D, a 2019 Digging Into History participant
TBD, a French intern

Conneclicut State Library https://ctstatelibrary.org/ 2



DIGGING INTO HISTORY 2023

Program Specifics

The 2023 Digging Into History program is building on our award winning 2019 Digging Into History: WWI
Trench Restoration in Seicheprey, France, which was just named one of CT Explored magazine's 20 Game
Changers in Connecticut History.

Next summer we will welcome 15 French students with their chaperones from the Communaute de
Comrmunas Mad et Moselle to Connecticut. They’ll work side by side with 15 high school students from
across the state next July on a project related to the comte de Rochambeau’s time in Connecticut. This
one of a kind program will continue to strengthen the bonds that have existed between Connecticut and
France for almost 25C years. The program will focus on raising awareness of the French Army’s
conltributions 1o the Revolution and it's marches through Connecticut in 1781 and 1782, albeit with a
special emphasis on their stops in Bolton.

Once Connecticut students have been accepted into the program, we will have a series of in-person team
building mestings held at locations around the state. Each student will be required to do a research project
related 1o the Revolutionary War in Connecticut and the French students will be researching the lives of
French soldiers, whenever possible, from the towns they are from. This incredible research will help to
shed light on the lives of our own soldiers and the French soldiers who camped in Bolton and help
students experience a small piece of history.

The full orogram will begin on 10 July 2023 when we gather at our lodgings to welcome the French
studentis to Connecticut. The archaeological excavation work will begin on 12 July 2023 and will continue
for the next 6 weekdays, ending 20 July 2023. Work days will run from 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 or 4:00 p.m. and
may be extended to do community service work in Bolton. The other weekdays and weekends will be full
of both scucational arnd fun activities designed to continue building the bond between this region of France

anc our state.

Students

We will be selecting 15 Connecticut high school students this fall through a competitive application
process. Students will be required to complete two-three short essays and submit two recommendations
from teachers, coaches, or other community leaders. Essays will be stripped of identifying information,
read and scored by a group of educators and cultural heritage professionals. Chaperones will review and
score recommendations and produce an overall score that reflects the entire application. The students

o

Connscticul State Library https://ctstatelibrary.org/ 3



with the 20-25 highest scores will be interviewed, and the top 15 of those students will be offered a spot in
the program. The remaining top candidates will be placed on a waitlist.

Due to the application process, we are unable to offer a Bolton student automatic entry, but we will give
any Bolton student applying for the program 4 extra points on their essay scores. They will still need a
strong application and interview to be accepted however.

Housing

The issue of housing and meals is as yet unsettled. We are looking at a number of options including the
University of Connecticut or Eastern Connecticut State University. Each of these options lengthen our day
with a longer commute time as well as incurring higher transportation costs.A suggestion had been made
regarding having students stay with local families, something we are looking into, but there may be some
serious obstacles we would have to overcome to make this work.

We were vary interested in housing students at the Channel 3 Kids Camp in Andover because the location
is icleal from both a transportation and a student supervision standpoint. However, since the abrupt closure
of the camp iast spring, we have not had any luck contacting anyone involved with the camp or
organization responsible for the camp.

Insurance

We have been working with Melissa Frank, JD, the Director of Insurance and Risk Management for the
state of Connecticut to obtain an insurance policy that will cover the students, chaperones, and interns for
the duration of the program, and will rely upon Connecticut’s sovereign immunity for participants in the
event. The policy cannot be issued more than 30 days prior to the start of the event, so we are unable to
supply a specific policy with this package. The policy will be provided to the town of Bolton when it is
issued, with the understanding that without said policy, the program will not be allowed to go forward.

Insurance for the archaeological excavation site will be provided by the Office of the State Archaeologist
and the University of Connecticut, and will cover activities at the site during working hours. Any activities
underiaken at the site by DiH participants after working hours, will be covered by our own insurance policy.

Archaeological Site & Finds

The area to be excavated will be determined by further survey, details of which can be found in the
attached report from Dr. Sarah Sportman. The disposition of any finds is also discussed in her report, and

Connecticut State Library https://cistatelibrary.org/ 4



we are willing to help town organizations identify grants that can help with preservation and exhibition
costs.

We are aware that this property is leased to a local farmer, and will work with them to minimize the impacts
of our program. The site may remain open after our departure, if the Office of the State Archaeologist and
the town of Bolton choose to continue the dig as a community program. Otherwise we will ensure the site
is restored to a manner acceptable to the town and the farmer who leases the property.

During the actual excavation, the work area will be roped off to prevent visitors from entering and
disturbing the integrity of the site. That said, we will encourage visitors, and will try to have someone
available to answer questions about the work and the program. We are also working on a plan to invite
some very high profile visitors to see what the program is all about.

We will need to erect a large canopy tent with tables and chairs as a lunch and work area, and a portable
tollet and hand washing station, possibly on the flat ground behind the barn. These will all be funded by
and the responsibility of the State Library.

Site Security

If this proposal is approved by the Bolton Board of Selectmen, we will formally announce the details of the
program including the chosen site. We will be talking about the program in a variety of mediums over the
next year, raising the visibility of the site. Neither the State Library nor the Office of the State Archaeologist
can provide security for the site during that time, though in discussing the site we will stress that it is an
arcnaeological preserve and there are penalties for disturbing the site in any way.

During the work period, when excavation trenches are open, we will need to rely on the people of Bolton
and possibly increased patrols by the State Police to ensure site security.

Community Engagement

We recognized the importance of involving community, both here and in France, when we ran this program
in 2013. So one of our key goals is to engage the Bolton community in our work. While our students won't
be staying in Bolton, we see the town as our primary location, and have considered how we might make
this a truly community based program. The following are a few of the ideas we have had on how to
incorzoraie the community into our work. We are just starting our activity planning so the people of Bolton
will hevve the opportunity to work with us to develop these activities further.

Connecticut State Library https://ctstatelibrary.org/ 5



¢ Community picnic - at the end of our work period, we would like to have a celebratory community
picnic. This would include a short set of remarks by community leaders, project leaders, and our
French guests. The community would be invited to see and hear about the work the students have
accomplished, while sharing a very traditional American style meal with our French friends (think
hamburgers, hot dogs, potato salad, and the usual fixings).

e Service projects - Our work days will be somewhat shorter than what we did in France, so we would
like to spend a few extra hours doing some sort of community service work. Ideally, this would be in

(02}

ervice of the Rochambeau connection and something that would benefit the town’s tourism. One
g2 ciscussed was trail maintenance and cleanup at Bolton Heritage Farm.
‘udent involvement - Our application process for students is competitive, SO we can’t set aside a
spot for a Bolton student, but we will provide an extra point(s) for any Bolton students that apply.
Students will still nave to complete the application process and have a successful interview, but the
sxira point(s) can and will make a difference.

clucetion - We will work with local teachers to create curriculum based on the Digging Into History
orogram and the work that we do. This will also include having program staff come talk to classes or
schools about what we found and how that work served to bolster the connections between France

Bclton and the state.
-ublic Progranis - After our 2019 trip to France, chaperones and students spoke at museums,

arizs and other comrnunity organizations around the state, and we expect the 2023 program will
e no different. Much of this included press, television, and radio coverage, and unlike 2019, these
Cutlets will be 2ble to visit Bolton for their reporting.
Community Archaeology - There is also a possibility of extending the site work for an additional week
[0 Include students or community members. This would allow local students and interested
onmunity memboers to do additional archaeological excavation work with Dr. Sarah Sportman after

we've completac our work. We will only have only completed a small section of the site, so there will
ne plenty of archaeology left.

The es” or the overall program will run between $60,000-$90,000, depending on housing
and transporiation costs. The National Park Service will be funding a portion of this overall cost and the
Connecticut Heritage Foundation, a non-profit entity supporting the State Library's mission, has pledged to
match the first $15,000 in donations. The rest will have to be raised through various fundraising campaigns

and grant funds.

https://ctstatelibrary.org/ 6



We do not expect Bolton to incur any costs in hosting us outside of possible trash collection form the work
site. The only other thing that might be required of the town would be an increased patrol of the site by
State Troopers during the work period to ensure no trespassing.

We would ask and hope that as our primary site, the people of Bolton could help us publicize our
fundraising campaign, but we acknowledge that is beyond the scope of the official duties of the Board of
Seiectmen. We also hope to work with at least one of Bolton’s 501¢3 organizations on sponsorship and/or
grant proposals to fund the final picnic or other community focused activities.

Closing

The success of the 2019 program, which focused on World War One and was conducted in France,
captured the attention of people across Connecticut and around the world. The expectation is that the
Connecticut version will be even more successful. This is something in our own back yards. It is a site that
people from across New England can easily visit and news organizations can easily cover.

Additionally, the recent creation of Connecticut's Semiquincentennial Commission will cast an additional
spotlight on the work of this program. As one of the few truly experiential history education programs in the
country, Digging Into History can become a model for how communities around the country can engage
students in a new way of learning, and Bolton can only benefit from being at the center of it all.

On behalf of the Connecticut State Library and the Office of the State Archaeologist, we would like to
thank the Bolton Board of Selectmen for their time in reviewing and considering this proposal. We are
availalle 1o answer any questions you may have.

Connecticut State Library https://ctstatelibrary.org/ 7



UCONN

OF CONNECTICUT

Proposed archaeological work in preparation for “Digging In” Program, Summer 2023

Connecticut Office of State Archaeology

Fall 2022

Preliminary Archaeological Survey

L.

IL

ML

The Office of State Archaeology (OSA) will contact PAST, Inc. which conducted a project
in 1999 to document Rochambeau’s march through Connecticut under contract to the
Connecticut Historical Commission!. The project included metal detector surveys of
numerous encampment sites, including the infantry camp in Bolton. If PAST has survey
data relating to the distribution of the metal detector finds from the original survey, that
information will be used to the guide the current effort.

OSA will coordinate with battlefield archaeologist Dr. Kevin McBride (UCONN) to arrange
an intensive metal detector survey of the previously identified encampment area at Rose
Farm to facilitate identification of concentrations of late 18t century and/or military
artifacts. Identifications of concentrations of artifacts and/or patterns in the materials
recovered will help guide the locations of subsurface archaeological testing.

e The purpose of the metal-detector survey is to identify and recover any metallic
objects that may have been lost/dropped by the French soldiers who camped at
the site. These might include personal items such as coins, buttons, and buckles,
as well weapons parts, lead shot, cart and animal hardware, etc.

e When metal objects are encountered in the survey, the location will be flagged,
and the detectorist will remove a small “plug” of soil to reveal the find.

e The location of each find will be recorded with GPS for integration into a GIS map
of the site.

e The artifacts will be collected and brought to the OSA lab at UCONN for processing
and cataloguing.

Following the metal detector survey, OSA will coordinate with remote sensing specialist
Dr. David Leslie of Heritage Consultants who has volunteered to carry out a ground-
penetrating radar (GPR) survey of the encampment area. The goal of the GPR survey is to
examine the encampment area for indications of buried cultural features, such as hearths,
that may be related to the encampment.

! Harper, Mary, Bruce Clouette, and Ross Harper. 1999. The Rochambeau Project: Historical and Archaeological
Documentation of the French Army’s March through Connecticut in 1781 and 1782. Public Archaeology Survey

Team, Inc.
OFFICE OF STATE ARCHAEOLOGY

CONNECTICUT STATE MUSEUM OF NATURAL HISTORY & DEPARTMENT OF ANTHROPOLOGY

Sarah.Sportman@uconn.edu rHone 860.617.6884

Osa.uconn.edu



V.

'R is a non-invasive geophysical survey method. The GPR antenna emits a pulse
f electromagnetic energy into the ground. The equipment records contrasts in
the dielectric properties of the subsurface materials as the pulse is reflected or
bsorbed. Reflections are generally encountered at the boundaries between
ifferent stratigraphic soil layers. GPR is an established prospection method for
rchaeological features such as shaft features (i.e. wells, privies), buried building
foundations, trenches, hearths, and cultural stratigraphy. Such features are visible
with GPR due to dielectric contrasts that often exist between feature fill and
surrounding sediment, visible truncation of internal stratigraphic layers, or high
reflection amplitude from intense signal reflection from bricks or stones.
o The data from both surveys will be mapped in GIS to identify areas of potential
archaeological sensitivity.

-
c
.
a

QO

OSA will then carry out limited archaeological testing in the form of shovel test pits or
excavation units to further examine the areas of sensitivity identified in the metal
detector and GPR surveys. This work will refine the identification of areas of
archaeological sensitivity that may be productive for excavations with the students in the
summer of 2023.

Recoverad Cultural Materials

17

All artifacts recovered from the metal detector and archaeological survey and subsequent
excavations will be taken to the OSA lab at UCONN for cleaning, identification, and
cataloguing.

s Many cof the metal objects we recover will require stabilization and long-term
conservation, as metal objects are prone to rapid deterioration once they have
been removed from the ground. OSA strongly recommends fund-raising and/or
application for state funds to help support the cost of conservation to ensure the
stabilization of metal artifacts for their long-term preservation and use in
exhibits/displays.

OSA will werk with the Town of Bolton to develop a plan for the long-term storage and/or
exhibition of the recovered artifacts and documentation related to the project.



NOTES:

N 1. HORZONTAL AND VERTIGAL DATUM 1 LOGAL ASSUNED.

N/F
Albert W. &
Lynn. N. Whoples.

rssoueo AN

PRIMARY LEACHFIELD SYSTEM AREA

N/F SECONDARY, LEACHFIELD SYSTEM AREA
kY Eric Bocchino &
Andrea Piche

INTENDED
PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT INTENDED TO BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION

‘GRAPHIC SCALE

N/F
Town Of
Bolton

3 TOWN OF
BOLTON, CONNECTICUT

TOWN CENTER
SUBSURFACE
SEWAGE DISPOSAL
SYSTEM

SITE PLAN

CONCEPTUAL DESIGN

'S0 ALTERATIONS T0 THIS DRAWNG MAGE WITHOUT THE EXPRESSED
15K OF TrE.

ALTERATIONS AND NATHAN L JACOBSON & ASSOCIATES, ING. WILL NEITHER
HAVE NOR ACCEPT ANY LIABILITY OR LEGAL EXPOSURE ARISING FROM SAID
UNAUTHORIZED ALTERATIONS.

Nathan L. Jacobson & Associates, Inc
86 Main Street P.O. Box 337
Chester, Connecticut 06412-0337
Tel: (860) 526-9591 Fax: (860) 526-5416

www.nlja.com
JacoDSON Consuiing Gl and Envionmentl Enginoas Sino 1972

'NOT VALID WITHOUT ORIGINAL SEAL

“TOSEPH W DILLON, PE
CT REGISTRATION No. 22903

SePTIC TANK Congregational
Church- Sodiety, Inc. O COPYRIGHT 2022 NATIN L JACOBSON & ASSOGIATES. MG
Congregational AL RIGHTS RESERVED
Church-Soclety, Tnc.
REVISIONS
Vo DESCRIPTION oaTE
8 DATE: AAUGUST 2022 SHEET No.
SCALE
PROJECT No. 09630014
CADDFLLE: 006300145505
DESIGNED: o 10F 1
DRAWN: a6
CHECKED: 5




Board of Selectmen Proposed 2023 Meeting Dates:

January 3, 2023
February 7, 2023
March 7, 2023
April 4, 2023

May 2, 2023

June 6, 2023

July 11, 2023
August 8, 2023
September 5, 2023
October 3, 2023
November 7, 2023

December 5, 2023

s ——



YVVYVY

v

YVVVY

9/30/22
October Highlights

From Interim Town Administrative Officer

Received pricing from two vendors for disposal of municipal solid waste, working on two more
Filled the vacancy in buildings and grounds department our new hire begins October 11th
Milling is being completed on Brian Drive and Green Hills with paving scheduled

Organized response and inspections for Farm Day event our staff did an extraordinary job

I met with Jeff Scala of Tectonic Engineering and UCONN students regarding Mark Anthony
bridge project which was accepted as well as a project for the assessment of the flooring
structure at the Heritage Farm barn. We also met with a separate group of students for that
project and are meeting on site.

A working group meeting held at Bolton Town Hall for improvements to winter lake drawdown
and other drawdown events. The draft document is being finalized and reviewed prior to
sending to DEEP. This should be completed shortly.

The skid unit for the brush truck has arrived and is being installed by the Town Mechanic.

| have engaged Classic Wheels LLC to provide a fair market valuation for the 1953 Dodge Power
Wagon. We have an appointment scheduled for October 11'" for them to view the vehicle.

| have participated in a working group organized by the Office of the State Building Inspector
and DAS regarding HB 5428. We are looking at standards for electronic record keeping of
permits as well as creating an educational pathway from trade school or college to a career in
code enforcement. This project is ongoing.

We completed a site visit with Attorney Barger, Barbara Kelly, 65 Shoddy Mill Attorney and
Trustee as we move toward resolving wetlands violations. They have engaged a wetlands
restoration expert and we are scheduling the next meeting prior to start of construction.
Virtual meeting with Superintendent Heckt and Novus reading implementing upgrades. This
project is ongoing and we will continue to provide updates.

Senior Center pickle ball court has been paved and is awaiting line striping.

Participated in CCM Public Safety Committee meeting

Participated in CRCOG Policy Board Meeting

| am working with HGAC and Precision Structures regarding the modular office structure.
Participated in 4 Town meeting regarding and the discussion centered around a logo. We have a
student intern from UCONN MPA program that is shared by the four towns to help move our
collaborative forward. He has spent a week in Bolton getting familiar with our teams and the
Town itself.

NUA has submitted final plans for the connectivity trail which had two minor revisions
requested. They are completing those revisions and we hope for final approval shortly.

When time permits the Highway Department will relocate the electronic speed limit sign from
Vernon/Quarry Rd to Bolton Center Road.

Resident Trooper Contenta has been patrolling our bike paths with other Officers by bike and
will continue the collaborative effort in Bolton and neighboring Towns.



> We received a communication regarding drainage on Bayberry Road. | have assigned our Town
Engineer to review the issues cited by the concerned parties and produce a report or memo
regarding the results of his investigation.

Respectfully submitted,

James Rupert
Interim Town Administrative Officer



%

®

WWW.w3r-us.org

WWW.Nnps.gov/waro

Chairman

Larry Abell

Yice Chairperson

Bruce Donald

Treasurer

David Meredith

Secretaries

Recording

Jeffrey Canning

Corresponding

Elaine Lawton

Executive Director
Ellen von Karajan
evonkarajan@gmail.com

410-350--6958

Honorary Chairman

Serge Gabriel

Honorary Consul
of France in Virginia
Emerita

Nicole Yancey

Honorary Consuls
of France
Roger Begin, Providence
Isabel Evelein, Hartford
Michael Scullin,
Philadelphia and

Wilmington

National Washington-Rochambeau
Revolutionary Route Association

State Chairs: Massachusetts ~ Rhode Island, Burton Quist ~ Connecticut,
Jonathan Kinney ~ New York, Janet Burnet/Lynn Briggs ~ New Jersey, Julie
Diddell ~ Pennsylvania, John Mitchell ~ Delaware, William Conley ~
Maryland, Ellen Moyer/William Ridgely ~ Washington D.C., B.J. Gerber ~
Virginia, David Meredith

September 20, 2022

Bolton Board of Selectmen
222 Bolton Center Road
Bolton, CT 06043

Dear Selectmen:

This letter is written to respectfully request your approval for the Digging into History
program that has been proposed for Bolton in 2023, and to express the National
Washington-Rochambeau Revolutionary Route Association’s endorsement of it.

This is the only in-depth experiential history program we are aware of on our national
historic trail. Given the complexities and demands of its organization and
implementation, it is likely to remain unique. Other states along the trail are envious of
this opportunity that is also unique to Connecticut. The Bolten Farm site’s role in the
American Revolution makes it an ideal location and it is our sincere hope that such a
project will reveal more multi-dimensional information about what life was like for
soldiers in camp beyond what is recorded in archival information.

It will be undertaken in strict accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act
and the Archaeological Resources Protection Act and closely and carefully supervised
in its entirety by the State Archaeologist.

This program will build on the success of the 2019 Digging into History: WWI Trench
Restoration in Seicheprey, France, which was just named one of CT Explored

magazine’s 20 Game Changers in Connecticut History, and which was featured as the
cover story in the American Association of State and Local History’s Magazine Vol 22.

Beyond that, it will involve young Connecticut students in a depth project with their
French cohorts for a personal and educational exchange experience they will
remember for the rest of their lives. It will also encourage them to take a lesson from
Bolton, and become advocates for the preservation of history and historic sites in their
own communities.

None of the work of organizing this multiple step project, including fund raising and
issuing the call to students, can begin until a location is determined. We do hope the
Bolton Farm can be approved as the location at your next meeting.

%M%/‘W 1

Ellen von Karajan




/R -2

* lla
Unnectlcur State Historic Preservation Office
Department of Economic and Community Development

September 27, 2022

Mr. Jim Rupert, Interim Town Administrator
Town of Bolton

222 Bolton Center Road

Bolton, CT 06043

SENT VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL

Subject:  Fifth Camp of Rochambeau's Infantry
266 Bolton Center Road
Bolton, Connecticut

Dear Mr. Rupert,

This letter is being written to express support from the Connecticut State Historic Preservation
Office (SHPO) for the proposed limited excavations at the Fifth Camp of Rochambeau's
Infantry site (State of Connecticut Archaeological Site #12-25). This site is both listed on the
National Register of Historic Places and is designated as a State Archaeological Preserve.
SHPO administers both of these programs. The National Register program is a requirement of
our office’s federal responsibilities and it is designed to communicate the historic significance
of a place. Connecticut’s General Statute 10-384 establishes the authority for SHPO; in
consultation with the Office of State Archaeology, to designate any site or land that has been
investigated and determined to be of state or national importance as a State Archaeological
Preserve. The State Archaeological Preserve program is Connecticut’s flagship program for
preserving significant archaeological finds, locations, and regions. It recognizes both the
educational and cultural value, as well as the fragile nature, of archaeological resources.

SHPO understands that the Connecticut State Library (CSL) participated in a program that
brought Connecticut students to France to assist with rehabilitating trenches dating from World
War I where Connecticut soldiers were stationed. To foster and continue this successful
experience, CSL intends to host French students in Connecticut. Our state has a strong historic
connection with France, but none is more pronounced than the march of Rochambeau across
Connecticut in 1781 and 1782 as we fought for our independence. For this reason, involving the
French students with this part of our state’s history is an ideal opportunity.

In 1998, SHPO sponsored an archaeological examination of the march route throughout the
state. An investigation of the Fifth Campsite in Bolton included a review of previously collected
surface materials, metal detecting and limited subsurface testing. As one of several
encampments that retains integrity and has a historic designation, it is a unique and important
archaeological resource. Because this site is designated as a State Archaeology Preserve, any
excavations will require a permit from SHPO pursuant to CT General Statute 10-386. Another

450 Columbus Blvd., Suite 5 | Hartford, CT06103 | P:860.500.2300 | ct.gov/historic-preservation

An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer; An Equal Opportunity Lender



* "u
Unnectl cur State Historic Preservation Office
Department of Economic and Community Development

benefit of the preserve program is that it creates partnerships for preserving, managing, and
sharing these significant parts of our history with the public. If the exchange program
excavations are approved by the Town of Bolton, SHPO will work in close consultation with
the Town, the Bolton Historical Society, CSL, and the Office of State Archaeology to develop
an excavation plan that balances site preservation with public sharing. The extent of
archaeological deposits associated with this encampment encompasses approximately 13 acres.
Therefore, limited excavations in areas outside of dense artifact concentrations would have a
minor impact on the overall integrity and continued preservation of the site. In addition, SHPO
will work with these partners to ensure that any recovered artifacts treated appropriately with a
plan for long term curation. As a result, SHPO is of the opinion that a well-designed project
with thoughtful methods and long-term planning would benefit the Town and the public.

Our office fully supports all efforts for the stewardship of this important site that Bolton has
undertaken. It is important for our sense of history and identity that archaeological sites be
protected, but it is also important that they are shared or experienced by the public. The proposed
program is an exciting opportunity to achieve that balance as we prepare for the country’s 250™
anniversary. Please do not hesitate to contact me at (860) 500-2329 or catherine.labadia@ct.gov
with any questions or concerns.

Sincerely,
ﬂ% iwép_ :
Catherine Labadia

Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer & Staff Archaeologist

cc (via electronic mail): -  Pittsley, CSL
Sportman, OSA

450 Columbus Blvd., Suite 5 | Hartford, CT 06103 | P:860.500.2300 | ct.gov/historic-preservation

An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer; An Equal Opportunity Lender



